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L egidative Assembly of Alberta

Titlee Tuesday, May 15, 2001
Date: 01/05/15
[The Speaker in the chair]

1:30 p.m.

head: Prayers

THE SPEAKER: Good afternoon.

Let us pray. Our Father, keep us mindful of the special and
unigue opportunity we have to work for our constituents and our
province, and in that work give us strength and wisdom. Amen.

Please be seated.

head: Introduction of Visitors
THE SPEAKER: The hon. Minister of Government Services.

MR. COUTTS: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. |I'm pleased to introduce
to you and through you to members of the Assembly Representative
Max Black of the Idaho House of Representatives and president of
the Pacific Northwest Economic Region, of which Alberta is a
member. Accompanying him here today are Representative Jeff
Morris of the Washington state House of Representatives, the vice-
president of PNWER, and Mr. Matt Morrison, executive director of
PNWER. They are seated in your gallery.

They have come to Edmonton today to meet with Alberta's
PNWER representatives and discuss the upcoming Pecific North-
west Economic Region meeting to be held in Whistler, British
Columbia, this coming July. Thiswill be ajoint meeting with the
Council of State Governments — West, which Alberta joined last
year. PNWER'’ scommitment to promote regional collaboration and
to remove trade and transportation barriers provides Albertawith a
valuable forum for strengthening our transboundary relations. |
would ask that our honoured guests please rise and receive the
traditional warm welcome of this Assembly.

MR. SHARIFF: Mr. Speaker, I'm pleased to introduce to you and
through you to membersof thisAssembly Mr. Stanley Soko, director
general of the province of Mpumalanga, South Africa. | would like
to welcome Mr. Soko and his collesgues: Mr. Dube, head of the
Mpumalanga finance department; Mr. Tshoba, chief director of
macropolicy in the office of the Premier; and Mr. Ben Nkambule,
director of intergovernmental relations and chief of protocol. Our
friends from our sister provincein South Africaare visiting Alberta
on their first official visit under phase 2 of the CIDA-funded South
Africa/lCanada provincial twinning program. This project encour-
ages the development of democratic governmental institutions in
South Africa, and Alberta is working with Mpumalanga to build
capacity in the areas of business planning, financial management,
and performance management. Mr. Speaker, | would now ask our
honoured guests, who are seated in your gallery, to please rise and
receive the traditional warm welcome of this Assembly.

head: Notices of Motions
THE SPEAKER: The Deputy Government House Leader.

MR. ZWOZDESKY': Thank you, Mr. Speaker. | rise pursuant to
Standing Order 34(2)(a) to give notice that tomorrow | will move
that written questions appearing on the Order Paper do stand and
retain their places with the exception of Written Question 3.

I’m also giving notice that tomorrow | will move that motions for

returns appearing on that day’ s Order Paper do stand and retain their
places.
Thank you.

head: Tabling Returnsand Reports

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Spruce Grove-Sturgeon-St.
Albert.

MR. HORNER: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. | have onetabling today.
It's a letter from Ms Jeanette Smith, board chair of the Parkland
school division. The school board has concerns regarding some
sections of the School Amendment Act.

Thank you.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Redwater.

MR. BRODA: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. 1'd like to table the
appropriate number of copies, being five, of aletter from the board
of trustees of Sturgeon school division No. 24 opposed to some of
the provisions of Bill 16.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Centre.

MS BLAKEMAN: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. | would like to table
five copiesof abooklet written by Miranda Ringmacommemorating
the efforts of the Edmonton December 6" committeein commission-
ing and erecting a statue on the 10th anniversary of the Montreal
massacre.

Thank you.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Riverview.

DR. TAFT: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. I’mtabling today five copies
of aletter from the Sherwood school Parents Advisory Council in
Edmonton to Premier Klein outliningtheir concernsfor educationin
the areas of infrastructure, resources, and parent fund-raising.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Gold Bar.

MR. MacDONALD: Thank you very much, Mr. Spesaker. | would
like to table for the benefit of all Members of the Legidative
Assembly copies of Alberta's market surveillance administrator’s
2000 annual report to the Alberta Minister of Energy. This was
submitted by the Power Pool Council.

Thank you.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Strathcona.

DR. PANNU: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Two tablings today. The
first oneis aletter from Mr. Ray Welsh of Vegrevillein which he
expressesdeep concern about thegovernment’ sindifferencetowards
public education and hostility towards teachers.

The second tabling, Mr. Speaker, summarizes the findings of a
Canadian Teachers Federation survey taken recently which
indicates that teachers on the average in Canada contribute out of
pocket close to $600 per teacher because of underfunding of
education across Canada.

Thank you, Mr. Speaker.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Highlands.

MR. MASON: Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker. |I'm tabling a
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letter from Mr. Malcolm Mcllroy of Red Deer addressed to the
Premier expressing his opposition to Bill 205, the Municipal
Government (Farming Practices Protection) Amendment Act. He
has two serious concerns, that it is intended to benefit a small
number of Lacombe-Stettler constituents rather than all Albertans
and that Alberta Agriculture, being the promoter of the bill, isina
conflict of interest situation and cannot be relied upon to provide
accurate and unbiased information.

head: Introduction of Guests
THE SPEAKER: The hon. the Premier.

MR. KLEIN: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. |I'm pleased to introduce to
you and through you to Members of the Legidative Assembly two
gentlemen who are seated in the members’ gallery and who are very
involved in promoting theaviation industry in the capital region and
indeed throughout the province. Visiting the Assembly today are
Scott Clements, CEO and president of the Edmonton Regional
Airports Authority, and John Craig, who isthe director of real estate
serviceswiththeairports. Scott and John are seated in the members
gdlery, and | would ask all members to offer them the traditional
warm welcome of this Legislature.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Drayton Valley-Calmar.

REV. ABBOTT: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Itismy great pleasure
and my honour, as thisis the first school from my riding to visit
during question period, tointroduceto you and through youto all the
members of this Assembly 29 students from Thorsby high school.
They are in the grade 10 class, and they are chaperoned by one
teacher, Mr. Al Bratland. Al has assured me that even though his
last name is Bratland, the environment in which he teaches is
nothing of thesort. | would ask if the studentswould pleaseriseand
receive the traditional warm welcome of the House.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Leduc.

MR. KLAPSTEIN: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. 1I’'m delighted to
introduceto you and through you to all members of the Assembly 17
guests from the Devon Christian school. They are 15 students from
grades 4 to 9, accompanied by teachers and group leaders Mrs.
Margaret Sloan and Mr. Brian Wallace. | would ask themtoriseand
extend to them the warm welcome of the Assembly.

head: Oral Question Period

THE SPEAKER: First Official Opposition main question. Thehon.
Leader of the Official Opposition.

1:40 Conflict of Interest Court Case

DR. NICOL: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Y esterday in the scrum the
Premier asked for reasonsto call for a public inquiry into the Jaber
affair. My questions are to the Premier. According to the court
documents, Mr. Jaber was also involved in the rel ocation of aliquor
store to Westmount Village mall in 1991. Why not call a public
inquiry to answer the question of what Mr. Jaber’ sinvolvement was
in this move?

MR. KLEIN: Mr. Spegker, I'll repeat what I've been saying all
along. If there are specific alegations related to this or any other
incident involving this particular gentleman, then | would ask the
hon. leader of the Liberal opposition to bring those matters, those

allegations to the attention of the Justice minister and Attorney
General, and I'm sure that he will take whatever action he deems
necessary to have these matters fully investigated.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. leader.

DR. NICOL: Thank you, Mr. Spesker. Why not cal a public
inquiry to answer the question of whether or not Mr. Jaber was
involved in any other government deals?

MR. KLEIN: Mr. Speaker, again thisisafishing trip, nothing more
than the opposition asking for this government to go on a fishing
trip. If there are any specific allegations and any evidence of any
wrongdoing, then bring the evidence forward, and it will be dealt
with.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. leader.

DR. NICOL: Thank you, Mr. Spesker. Why not cal a public
inquiry to give an answer to what other activities Mr. Jaber was
involved in that would lead Mr. Nagvi to believe that Mr. Jaber
could help him?

MR. KLEIN: Mr. Speaker, the question is the same.
MS CARLSON: No, itisn't.

MR. KLEIN: Well, it' salmost the same. | just heard from acrossthe
way that it isn’t the same question. | believeit isthe same question.
Notwithstanding what the question is, the answer is the same. If
there are specific allegations or evidence of any wrongdoing, bring
it to the proper authorities, and it will be investigated.

THE SPEAKER: Second main question. The Leader of the Official
Opposition.

DR. NICOL: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Mr. Premier, why not call an
inquiry to give an answer asto whether or not any other government
officials have been approached on this issue?

MR. KLEIN: Mr. Speaker, the answer is the same. If there are
allegations that are specific or evidence that is specific to any
incidents or any suspicion of wrongdoing, bring the information to
the proper authority, in this case the Justice minister and Attorney
General, and I’'m sure he'll take whatever action is deemed to be

appropriate.
THE SPEAKER: The hon. leader.

DR. NICOL: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Mr. Premier, why not cal a
public inquiry to allow Albertans to hear from Mr. Jaber himself?

MR. KLEIN: Well, Mr. Speaker, there was one incident in which
Mr. Jaber indeed was heard. Well, maybe two incidents. One was
the preliminary hearing, and | don’t know the facts of the prelimi-
nary hearing, whether he was called to give evidence or not, but
certainly he signed an agreed statement of factsrelative to thetrial.
That was all made public. Relative to that incident, as I’ve said
earlier, this case proves that the system does indeed work. A
complaint was investigated, charges were laid, a conviction ob-
tained, punishment rendered, and it was all donein public. All the
documentation associated with thetrial and theconviction, al of that
information is public information. It was done in an open court-
room.
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Y ou know, Mr. Speaker, people can raise questionsall they want,
but the fact isthat all aspects of this case have been investigated by
the police and charges have been laid where warranted. The
proceedingsof the case areavailablefor public scrutiny, so there has
been nothing concealed in thismatter. Itisall therefor thepublicto
see.

DR. NICOL: Mr. Premier, the issues that |’ ve just raised, are these
not more than enough so that a public inquiry can be provided so
Albertans can understand what happened?

MR. KLEIN: Mr. Speaker, sir, again if the hon. member has specific
dlegations, if he has anything specific, any allegations or any
evidence of wrongdoing, please, please, | beg of himto bring these
matters to the proper authority, in this case the Justice minister and
Attorney General, and they will be properly investigated.

THE SPEAKER: Third Official Opposition main question. Thehon.
Member for Edmonton-Riverview.

Premier’s Flight to Prince Rupert

DR. TAFT: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Last July there was a public
outcry over Edmonton city councillors accepting aflight to Calgary
on ATCO’s corporate jet for which they did not pay. The Premier
was quoted in newspapers as disapproving of this, explaining:

You'rein the area of optics. Often, I’ ve been offered the opportu-

nity to go golfing or to go fishing, but unless it's to my own lodge,

it's dangerous to do those kind of things (for business purposes).

For pleasure, it's doubly risky.
Last fall the Premier’ s office confirmed that the day before making
these comments, the Premier returned from his private fishing lodge
north of Prince Rupert on the Syncrude corporatejet. Hisofficealso
indicated that the Premier paid for thisflight. To the Premier: can
the Premier tell Albertans how he made his arrangements to fly on
the Syncrude jet?

MR. KLEIN: First of al, Mr. Speaker, | didn’t make any arrange-
mentsto fly on the Syncrudejet. They were probably made through
my executive assistant. Payment was made, and it was made quite
appropriately to Syncrude. We have a policy that if we go on a
private plane—and thiswasn't even on private business. Well, yes,
it was on private business; it was my private business. Thelodgeis
abusiness, my private business. Thereareways of dealing with this
kind of business. | wasn’'t on government business. | was on my
business.

If the hon. member wantsto pay the price, heiswelcometo come
up tothelodge. It’'sabout $3,000 for three nights and about $3,500
for four nights, exclusive of airfare. If hewantsto add intheairfare,
he' scertainly welcometo do that, and I |l makethe arrangementsfor
him to come up.

DR. TAFT: | appreciate the Premier’ s generosity.
Did the Premier pay for this flight with personal funds or with
government funds?

MR. KLEIN: Mr. Speaker, this was paid for with persona funds.
Now, | am paid by the government; right? The party keeps a small
account for me, as I’'m sure they do for the Leader of the Official
Opposition, if they have any money left. So, yes, it is my money.
| have an interest in a business which is my business.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

DR. TAFT: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Will the Premier table the
receipt for his payment, a canceled cheque or a credit card stub, in
the Assembly before question period tomorrow?

Speaker’s Ruling
Allegations against a M ember

THE SPEAKER: If the hon. member has a charge or an allegation
he chooses or wishes to make against another hon. member, he
should make that charge in this Assembly, and this Assembly has
proceduresfor dealing with that. But if it’sgoing to be asuggestion
that reeksof innuendo and aseriesof other things, well, | don’t think
that that’s the purpose of this question period. | don't think that
deals with the decorum of this Assembly, nor do | believe that it
deals with the rules of this Assembly. If the hon. member —and |
repeat — wishes to make a charge against another hon. member,
make the charge.
The hon. Member for Edmonton-Highlands.

Conflict of Interest Court Case
(continued)

MR. MASON: Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker. Y esterday the
Premier in commentsin the House was heard asking why Mr. Naqvi,
thebriber, wasn’t charged, and helater said in responseto questions:
| said that if you have a bribee, you must have a briber, so why
weren't chargeslaid? My question isto the Premier. Isthe Premier
standing behind theimplication heleft yesterday in thisHousewhen
he offhandedly accused a private citizen of bribery in a case in
which he was never charged?

MR. KLEIN: First of al, Mr. Speaker, | didn’t accuseanyone. | said
that if there is a bribee, one has to assume there's a bribor. You
know, I’'m wondering why no questions have been asked in this
regard. Now, if the hon. member wants to ask the question in this
regard, fed free.

1:50

MR. MASON: In amoment, Mr. Speaker.

Why did the Premier say that a deal had been made in exchange
for not charging Mr. Nagvi when the preliminary hearing transcript
clearly states that there was no deal ?

MR. KLEIN: Mr. Speaker, perhaps “deal” was unfortunate. 1've
since consulted with the Attorney General. As| understand it, an
arrangement was made.

MR. MASON: Enlightening, Mr. Speaker.

Given the Premier’'s eagerness to ask the questions rather than
answer them, my question to the Premier is this: why wasn’'t Mr.
Naqvi charged?

MR. KLEIN: Well, Mr. Speaker, | havenoidea. You know, it was
agratuitous remark across the hall, not on the forma record in any
way, shape, or form. I’'m curious and I’ m sure that members of the
opposition are curious. All I'm saying is that if a bribee has been
convicted of accepting a bribe, one has to assume that there is a
bribor. If there wasn't, well, | guess there wasn’t.

Speaker’s Ruling
Oral Question Period Rules

THE SPEAKER: Hon. members, Beauchesne 411 says:
Some further limitations seem to be generaly understood. A
question may not:
(1) [seek] asolution of alegal question, such as the interpretation
of astatute.
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Beauchesne 410 clearly states that a question “should not seek a
legal opinion or inquire as to what legal advice a Minister has
received.”

The hon. Member for Red Deer-North, followed by the hon.
Member for Edmonton-Ellerdlie.

Sex Offender Registry

MRS. JABLONSKI: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. All Albertans are
horrified and saddened by the recent tragic eventsin Lethbridge and
other similar incidents that have occurred in the past. Children are
Alberta’ smost precious resource, and we have to do everything we
can to protect them. Thereisapoint when we haveto say: no more.
One idea that has been proposed is a sex offender registry. My
questionisto thehon. Solicitor General. What stepsare being taken
to develop a provincial sex offender registry in Alberta?

THE SPEAKER: The hon. minister.

MRS. FORSYTH: Yes. Thank you, Mr. Spesker. First of al, on
behalf of the government of Albertal want to clearly state that this
government is committed to protecting children and to keeping
Alberta’ s communities a safe place to live and raise our families.

Mr. Speaker, today | have met with officials from my department
to discuss the provincial sex offender registry. Since 1998 the
Albertagovernment has|obbied thefederal government to establish
anational sex offender registry. Sex offenders move from place to
place, and we believe anationa tracking system would be the most
effective. While that's our first preference, a provincial registry
would go along way towards helping track these predators.

Mr. Speaker, with that in mind, my department has already begun
to move forward on a provincial registry. My department isin the
process of setting up a working committee made up of representa-
tives of the police service, Alberta Justice, and my department. I'll
be reporting back to cabinet in two weeks. The Premier has aready
committed to raise the issue at the upcoming Western Premiers
Conferencethismonth and at the annual Premiers’ Conferencelater
this summer.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

MRS. JABLONSKI: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Again to the hon.
Solicitor General: what are the benefits of asex offender registry in
the province of Alberta?

THE SPEAKER: The hon. minister. If it’s not an opinion.

MRS. FORSY TH: Mr. Speaker, aregistry will allow police services
to track the movement of sex offendersin Albertaasthey movefrom
place to place and to warn communities that these people may pose
adanger. It will add another mechanism to those aready in place.
For example, in Alberta the public is notified when an offender is
released into the community if the chief of police or the head of the
RCMP K Division feelsthe public is at risk of significant harm.

Mr. Speaker, Ontario has put in place legidation, and B.C. isin
the process of establishing asimilar system. By moving ahead with
the registry in Alberta, | believe we will be putting additional
pressure on the federal government to put in place a national
registry. We want to send a clear message to sex offenders in
Alberta: do not touch our children.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

MRS. JABLONSKI: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. AgaintotheSolicitor
Genera: who would be able to access a sex offender registry?

THE SPEAKER: The hon. minister.

MRS. FORSYTH: Thank you, Mr. Spesker. The registry would
primarily be another tool for police agencies. It will give police
firsthand knowledge of the principa residence of a sex offender.
The registry would not be intended for public use. In other words,
if someone has suspicions about their next-door neighbour, they
would not be able to contact the registry to find out about the
person’s criminal record. However, the intent is that organizations
that involve children interacting with adults would be able to access
the registry through the police.

SurplusLand Sale

MS CARLSON: Mr. Speaker, we have another issue for this
government that does not pass the smell test. The province deemed
greenbelt land on 10th Avenue as surplus and conveniently forgot to
follow due processin notifying the city that it was availablefor sale.
Thiscircumvented theonly processlocal residents had to benotified
that the provinceintended to sell land committed to agricultural and
recreational use. My questions are to the Minister of Infrastructure.
When | requested theinformation on thisissue, why did the minister
state in his reply of January 25, 2001, that the city had received
proper notification of this current land sale?

MR. LUND: Mr. Spesker, asfar as| recal in reading the briefing —
of course, this was on January 25 — it's my understanding that the
city was notified.

MS CARLSON: Not the case.

To the same minister: why did the provincelift therestrictionson
caveats on this land so that adjacent landowners would not have to
be natified of impending sales?

MR. LUND: Wéll, Mr. Speaker, it is the common practice that we
first notify the jurisdiction in which the land is situated, and then it
isadvertised. If they do not want the land or have no usefor it, then
infactitisput on the market in awide-open processthrough thereal
estate.

MS CARLSON: Not what happened in this case, Mr. Speaker.

What istheminister’ sjustification for selling thispiece of land in
a sweetheart deal which included a record-breaking closing time,
below market pricing, and lack of proper notification to the city and
local residents?

MR. LUND: Well, Mr. Speaker, | don’t believe that there was
anything done that was not following procedure. Certainly the
property, it is my understanding, was advertised for some length of
time, and it is not common practice to notify everybody locally.
There' scertainly the opportunity for peopleto becomeaware of land
that isfor sdlewhen it’slisted with areal estate agency, and that, in
my understanding, is what happened.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Little Bow, followed by the
hon. Member for Edmonton-Centre.
Canada/Alberta Farm Income Assistance Program

MR. McFARLAND: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. With respect to the
Canada/Alberta farm income assistance program, which has been
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very well received by producers of agricultura productsin Alberta,
| have subsequently had a number of comments expressed to me
about the misunderstanding or possible confusion on the application
form. My questions today are to the Minister of Agriculture, Food
and Rural Development. Madam Minister, could you please tell
myself, the Assembly, and constituents why a simple photocopy
process like was used last year in the permit books wasn't used in
this particular program?

MRS. McCLELLAN: Mr. Speaker, there are a couple of reasons
why the permit book wasn't used thisyear. Thefirst oneis that it
probably would have del ayed payment to the farmers. Secondly, the
permit book information isoften outdated. In fact, about 40 percent
of theinformation that we got off the permit books for the first farm
income assistance program was wrong. We think that the current
permit book would be more accurate, thanks to the last program.
However, itisstill afactor. The other thing isthat that permit book
information is not broken down in many cases into quarters so that
specificland can beidentified. It doesn’t lwaysincludethefull 160
acres.

Mr. Speaker, it was our feeling that the important part of this
program was the immediate need of farmers, the ability to get those
cheques in farmers' hands as quickly as possible. We expect the
first chequesto start flowing either late thisweek or the first of next
week — my staff will hear that, I'm sure — and allow them to be
processed as quickly as possible. So that is the reason: the permit
book information was not accurate, we couldn’t be assured that it
was accurate, and we did not want to delay payments to farmers.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

MR. McFARLAND: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Given that the
landowner who rents on a crop-share or a cash-rent basis does have
afinancia interest in the land, | think we need an explanation why
the guide itself specifically states that landlords who have no
financia interest in the year 2000 crops are not eligible. Could you
please respond?

2:00

MRS. McCLELLAN: Mr. Speaker, we made it very clear when we
announced this program that this program and the intent of this
program is to compensate the producer, not the landowner. The
program defines the producer as the person who is responsible for
the day-to-day management of the farm. This responsibility would
include input costs and working the land. A landlord whose only
interest in the crop isthat of ownership of land isnot affected by the
changes of the price of commodities or input costs. So if these
landlords are compensated by a set cash payment, they would not
have, in our opinion, a further financial interest in the land in the
way of input costs or working theland. Again, | will repest that this
programwas clearly outlined, was clearly stated that it wasintended
to help the producer, the person who is working the land.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

MR. McFARLAND: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. In the case where
there's no written reference to government programs in a rental
contract, who will resolve or decide the alocation of the funds on
the per acre assistance basis to the renter or to the landlord?

MRS. McCLELLAN: Mr. Speaker, that could occur in acrop-share
rental agreement. That is correct. Again, I'll repeat that the intent
of this program is to provide assistance to the producer. We

encourage applicants on acrop-share basisto have adiscussion with
their landlord, if you wish, to negotiate afair sharing. However, if
the parties are unable to resolve their dispute, they can submit their
information to the program administration and areview committee
will make that decision for them.

SurplusLand Sale
(continued)

MS BLAKEMAN: Mr. Speaker, in March surplus land from the
Solicitor Generd’s college in southwest Edmonton was sold to a
developer. Adjacent residents who expected it to remain apark are
left wondering what happened. My first question isto the Solicitor
General. What process did the Solicitor General’s department
follow to sell off the surplus land?

MRS. FORSYTH: Mr. Spesker, I'd like to pass that on to the
minister responsible, the Minister of Infrastructure.

MR. LUND: Mr. Speaker, when adepartment hasland that isexcess
toitsneeds, the Department of Infrastructure handlesthe sale of that
property. The answer to this question would be very similar to the
ones that we had just amoment ago. The due process s followed,
and it's unfortunate if people thought that there was going to be a
park there, because that was not the case.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

MS BLAKEMAN: Thank you. To the Minister of Infrastructure:
will theminister confirm that this 10-lot piece of land was offered to
the developer for approximately $58,000 in exchange for the
developer building an adjacent road?

MR. LUND: Mr. Speaker, that is a very detailed question, and |
don’t have those numbers at my fingertips. | would urge the hon.
member to put it on the Order Paper as awritten question, whichis
the normal process for questions that are in that kind of detail.

MS BLAKEMAN: My final question to the Minister of Infrastruc-
ture: why are devel opers alowed to buy government-owned land at
prices far below market value for residential lots?

MR. LUND: Mr. Speaker, that is not the case. |If that member has
information that this is happening, | would ask her to talk to our
department, and if it’ snecessary, wewill takethe appropriate action.
Clearly, under the act the land has to be sold at not |ess than market
value, and it’s put on the market as an upset price.

THE SPEAKER: Thehon. Member for Calgary-Currie, followed by
the hon. Member for Edmonton-Gold Bar.

Motor Vehicle Safety

MR. LORD: Well, thank you, Mr. Speaker. | certainly appreciated
the earlier comments about children being our most precious
resource. Those comments are very appropriate because May 18 to
May 24 isNationa Road Safety Week, and collisionsaretheleading
cause of hospitalization for injuries and the leading cause of death
and injury for children in this province and across Canada. In fact,
it's been reported that the average 400 traffic fatalities, 20,000
injuries, and 70,000 property-damage collisions caused by traffic
accidents in Alberta each year are estimated to cost Albertans
directly and indirectly upwards of $3.5 billion annualy. It is said
that if you have a dangerous road, you can either fix the road or
build more hospitals. Thus my question to the hon. minister of
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hedlth: is there information available or collected by your depart-
ment about the cost to society and to our health care system due to
vehicle collisions and the resulting injuries and fatalities?

MR. MAR: Mr. Spesgker, | can provide a partial answer to the
question being asked by the hon. member. In 1996 an amendment
was made to the Hospitals Act that allows the province to recover
health care costs arising from the result of motor vehicle accidents.
That recovery is done through an annual direct payment by insurers
to the province, and the insurers in that industry find this to be a
much simpler and |ess expensive way of dealingwith it than through
individua claims.

In 1997 the automobile insurers negotiated with Alberta Health,
at that time, and agreed to pay Alberta Treasury some $35 million
for estimated health care costs, and this amount was based upon
adjustments that were made annually. For the year 2000 the
estimated costs are in the range of $50 million.

The portion of the question that | cannot answer, Mr. Speaker,
relates to the exact costs to the overall health system and society as
awhole. It has been estimated by the Alberta Motor Association
that the societal cost to Albertansisin the range of $3.8 hillion, but
| cannot verify that myself.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

MR. LORD: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. To thesameminister: inlight
of thelarge number of injuriesand coststo our health care system as
aresult of collisions, are there any preventative strategies that the
provinceisinvolved in?

MR. MAR: Well, Mr. Speaker, we are involved in a number of
strategies, and perhaps the Minister of Transportation may wish to
supplement. The main strategy that the Department of Health and
Wellness is involved in is the funding for the Alberta Centre for
Injury Control & Research, which is funded by the Department of
Health and Wellness and operated out of the University of Alberta.
That centre works towards reducing injury rates in the province
through initiatives that involve research, surveillance, evaluation,
and information-sharing and education. Also, the province does
provide funding for a program called the Alberta occupant restraint
program, which ticketsdriversfor not having their children properly
buckled upinvehicles. Driversaregiven theoption of paying afine
or attending an education program.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

MR. LORD: Thank you, Mr. Spesker. My final question isto the
Minister of Transportation. I’'m wondering what initiatives your
department is involved in to ensure that the very best road design
standards and practices and the very best technology available are
being used in Alberta.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. minister.

MR. STELMACH: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. According to the
collision experts, 90 percent of accidentsin the province are due to
driver error. Asaresult, we are focusing on driver safety programs
and some of the traffic safety initiative awareness programs and
education programs.

With respect to leading-edge technology, the hon. member
representsaconstituency in Calgary, and I’'m quite sure hedrivesup
and down highway 2 on aregular basis. We have introduced in
Alberta an intelligent transportation system. These are the signs

across the highway that will send messagesin terms of conditions of
the road, advising people as to some perils ahead, maybe slower
traffic. We aso introduced in Alberta rumble strips on the edge of
the highway to ensure that if people are dozing off, they’d be
awakened by the sound. We've aso implemented some rumble
strips on the centre line of the highway. As a result, that has
provided additional safety for our traveling motoring public.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Gold Bar,
followed by the hon. Member for Edmonton-Strathcona.

2:10 Electricity Exports

MR. MacDONALD: Thank you, Mr. Spesker. When discussing
power deregulation with the Edmonton Journal editorial board in
February of this year, the Premier looked up from his detailed
briefing notes with a shrug and said, quote: | have no ideawhat all
thismeans. End of quote. My first question today isto the Premier.
Doesthe Premier acknowl edgethat el ectricity exportsout of Alberta
areimpacting the pool price and therefore adding to what Albertans
pay for their electricity?
Thank you.

MR. KLEIN: Mr. Speaker, | don't know how it affects the pool
price. | do know, as| said yesterday, that certainly the producers of
major power — and | would say in excess of 500 megawatts — are
looking for export licences and the means to transport that electric-
ity, but as| explained yesterday, the rules are very clear. The needs
of Albertans must be satisfied and, | would assume, at areasonable
rate. There has to be a certain amount of surplus power left in
Alberta, and as | understand it, only the surplus on the surplus can
be exported and again probably under very strict conditions, but I'll
have the hon. minister respond.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. minister?
The hon. member.

MR.MacDONALD: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. AgaintothePremier:
doesthe Premier agree with the Power Pool of Albertawhen it states
in arecent discussion paper that exporting Alberta generation will
impact the Albertapool price, which, inturn, affectswhat Albertans,
whether they be aresidential consumer or industria, pay for their
electricity?

Thank you.

THE SPEAKER: Hon. member, the question period deals with
government policy, not opinion.

Hon. Premier, if you want to talk about government policy, that's
fine but not an opinion.

MR. KLEIN: Well, Mr. Speaker, you took thewordsright out of my
mouth. The hon. member is asking me to make some assumptions,
and | can’t assume how it will affect the Power Pool, but perhapsthe
hon. minister can shed somelight on it.

THE SPEAKER: The same applies.

MR. SMITH: Mr. Speaker, it’s absolutely an excellent opportunity
to indicate that new exports, exports over time, once the Alberta
situation comesinto balance—we're again seeing adrop in the pool
price today: 9 and a haf cents a kilowatt-hour. So what we're
starting to seeisabalancing occurring in Alberta, but if you want to
encourage more generation and you want to increase alarger market
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and you want to make those moves, then in fact future exports may
have the impact of driving the price down.

MR. MacDONALD: Mr. Speaker, to the Minister of Energy. While
the Premier yesterday would not answer, will the minister please
explain his department’ s concern and what policy direction they’re
going to take concerning the issues that have been proposed by the
Senior Petroleum Producers Association, which indicates that they
have agreat deal of concern about the impact of electricity exports
on domestic prices, especially considering Alberta’s own Power
Pool now has that same concern as the petroleum producers?
Thank you.

MR. SMITH: Mr. Speaker, | think the best response would be the
fullness of time. In the fullness of time wewill see what will unfold
with respect to lower power prices in Alberta, lower power prices
that we' ve seen today and we saw yesterday, the fact that there is
new generation coming on, the fact that the oil sands development
leads itself to natural cogeneration opportunities, the fact that in
Alberta you can start any electrical facility today and you have a
built-in customer to sell it to. In fact, you can talk about oil sands,
conventional oil and gas, the pulp and paper industry all presenting
energy-producing, electricity-producing activities in a deregulated
market with a customer that will buy it at the Power Pool. We're
going to see more power, we' re going to seelower prices, and we're
going to see ourselves ahead of the situation that exists in North
Americatoday.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Strathcona,
followed by the hon. Member for Calgary-Cross.

Inland Cement Limited

DR. PANNU: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Last night the minister of
environmental protection tried to turn abig public meeting, called to
hear the concerns of citizens with regard to Inland Cement’s
application, into acarefully stage-managed public relations exercise
with no less than five government MLAs and 20 departmental staff
present. However, the minister failed to convince those present at
the meeting that he was not fast-tracking the approval process. My
questions are to the Premier. Will the Premier please stop the
Minister of Environment from fast-tracking thisimportant decision?

MR. KLEIN: First of all, Mr. Speaker, the Minister of Environment
isnot fast-tracking the process. | think that heanswered the question
fully and honestly yesterday relative to the process that will unfold
relativeto this particular application. | take offenceto the assertion
of the leader of the third party that this was nothing more than a PR
exercise on the part of theminister. | saw the minister ontelevision
last night. | thought he did an outstanding job. | also saw theleader
of the third party. | can’'t say as much for him; I'll tell you that
much.

Mr. Speaker, as | understand it, a series of public meetings are
being held so that the public, the people directly affected, especialy
can ask questions of Environment officials, can ask questions of the
officialsfrom Inland Cement, and can of course hear the opposition
registered by the NDs — | don’t know if the Liberals have any to
register — and anyone else, for that matter, and can take those
concerns into account as this application proceeds.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

DR. PANNU: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. The Premier seems to be

rather oversensitive about the questions, | mean seriously, toask him
to intervene. Will the Premier order a full environmental impact
assessment as opposed to what the minister is offering, which is
environmental review only?

MR. KLEIN: Mr. Speaker, first of al, | need to know what the hon.
member means by a full-blown environmental assessment. You
know, there are different processes to assess the environmental
worthiness of aproject. Certainly some by legislation are required
— absolutely required — to go through a full public hearing either
through the AEUB, the NRCB, perhaps the environmental assess-
ment review process relative to the federal government, or a joint
process of al three, depending on the nature and magnitude of the
project.

Other projects, Mr. Speaker, could be the subject of less formal
public open houses, lessformal public hearings. All processeshave
to have an environmental impact statement; in other words, a
document showing what the impact on the environment is going to
be.

So, Mr. Speaker, it was deemed that this project, which is a
conversion from gasto coal, should undergo acertain process. If at
the end of the day, as | understand it, the people are not satisfied,
they still have a very open and very public process, and that is an
appea to the Environmental Appeal Board.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

DR. PANNU: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. My last question isto the
Premier. Will the Premier guarantee Albertans and Edmontonians
that public hearingswill be ordered so that presenters can be cross-
examined when they present evidence, scientific and other, to the
hearings?

MR. KLEIN: Mr. Spesker, | assume the process to which the hon.
member aludes is a full-blown environmental impact assessment,
involving hearings before the Natural Resources Conservation
Board. Thelegislationisquite clear relative to the kinds of projects
and the magnitude of projects that are subjected to NRCB and/or
AEUB hearings. Thisobviously isaproject that isdeemed not to be
significant enough to be subjected to that kind of review. However,
theminister hassaid that hewill make surethat the public hasample
opportunity for input into this process and that indeed appropriate
and proper environmental impact statementswill haveto beprepared
andthat theappeal processthroughthe Environmental Appeal Board
is available to any person who has an objection or has grounds to
launch an appeal.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Calgary-Cross, followed by
the hon. Member for Edmonton-Glengarry.

2:20 M aintenance Enfor cement Program

MRS. FRITZ: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. My office continues to be
very, very busy with calls regarding maintenance enforcement. |
realize that you' ve had that issue in the Legislature on anumber of
occasions previoudly, but | aso know through my discussions with
thehon. Minister of Justicethat we have approximately 43,000 cases
of maintenance enforcement ongoing in our province a any one
time. Quite frankly, | continue to believe that we need to acknow!-
edge the sensitivities of all family members when maintenance
enforcement becomes necessary in their lives, which is why my
question today is to the hon. Minister of Justice. What is the
minister doing to assist children and family members who are
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affected by debtors that refuse to pay spousal taxes that have been
ordered in their court-ordered maintenance?

MR. HANCOCK: Well, Mr. Speaker, I'm pleased to have the
question because the maintenance enforcement programisindeed a
success story.  The maintenance enforcement program is there to
assist children in Alberta and to assist families to get the mainte-
nance which they deserve and which is ordered by the courts.
There's been a very real improvement in that program over the
course of thelast year. Since the program was launched in Novem-
ber of 1986, monthly collection rates have increased significantly,
and the program is now collecting $11.5 million per month.

During thetwo years since the Maintenance Enforcement Act was
amended in 1999, the ability of the maintenance enforcement
program to make collections has been dramatically improved.
They’ve been given much-needed teeth to take a wide variety of
enforcement actionsincluding the ability to cancel drivers' licences,
the right to report defaulting debtors to the credit bureau, and the
ability to go after moneystransferred to third parties. |'m pleased to
report that the program collected morethan $138 millionlast year on
behalf of Alberta’ sfamiliesand children. That'san increase of $11
million over the previous year.

A couple of other minor items, Mr. Speaker, but not so minor to
the people who access the program. The delay in people getting
access over the phone has been reduced from a 15-minute holding
time to less than five minutes. That's a significant improvement in
service, and we' re continuing to try and improve that serviceto the
Albertapublic.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

MRS. FRITZ: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Also to the same minister:
what is the program doing to accommodate debtors, who are
primarily men, that cannot afford to pay?

MR. HANCOCK: WEell, Mr. Speaker, there are always two sides to
every story. There are many people who are registered with the
program and are in situations where they can’t pay or haven’t been
able to pay. While we make every effort to collect on behalf of
those who are entitled to receive payment and the maintenance
enforcement goes through a series of processes including default
hearings and where we can't find people or can’t get satisfaction any
other way, by posting pictures on the web site, the program is not
without a heart. If somebody cannot pay, if their financia circum-
stances are such that they can’t make the payments, they can meet
with program personnel to discussthe problem. Theprogram cannot
vary acourt-ordered payment, so they will advise peopleto go back
to court and get the payment varied, if that's appropriate. They can
make arrangements with respect to the amount to be paid on arrears,
and they will do that in appropriate circumstances.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

MRS. FRITZ: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. It'salso my understanding
that the court-ordered obligations are enforced through the Internet
and, as well, through state-of-the-art phone systems, and I'm
interested in hearing from the hon. minister what the results of that
enforcement are.

MR. HANCOCK: Well, yes, Mr. Speaker, we have two processes
involving the special investigations unit, that was set up in the past
year and a haf, and aso a compliance unit.

The special investigations unit has collected more than $5.7

million on about a thousand files. Those are files in which money
wasnot previously being collected, soit’ sasignificantimprovement
to the program and to the peoplein particular who are awaiting their
maintenance payments. The compliance unit was created to bring
filesto default hearings more quickly and to deal with the challenge
that was faced by many families — and in some cases is still being
faced — in terms of getting to a default hearing on a timely basis.
Docket courts have been set up in Edmonton and Calgary to handle
the process, and as aresult the wait for a hearing has dropped from
more than seven months to three months.

So, Mr. Speaker, I'm pleased to advise the House that there has
been significant improvement. There can always be moreimprove-
ments made. We're certainly working to make sure that in a very,
very tough job our maintenance enforcement people are always
polite with the public and deal with the public in a reasonable
manner. The program isworking very well for Albertafamilies.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Glengarry,
followed by the hon. Member for Edmonton Meadowlark.

Water and Wastewater Grants

MR. BONNER: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. AsAlbertansget ready to
head to cabins and summer villages, water quality and quantity ison
everybody’smind. My questions areto the Minister of Transporta-
tion. Will the minister table copies of any studies or reports his
department has on the adequacy of water and wastewater infrastruc-
ture in summer villages?

MR. STELMACH: Mr. Speaker, our department isalwaysopenwith
any kind of reports and studies that we do in co-operation with the
various municipalities, including summer villages, in this province.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

MR. BONNER: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Also to thesame minister:
what isthe status of the waiting list for funding under the water and
wastewater grants?

MR. STELMACH: Mr. Spesker, | think | answered this question a
couple of weeks ago to the same hon. member.

The budget will cover al of those applications where the water
quality and supply are at risk. We're working with other applica
tions that are coming forward, but they're rated according to need,
and we will look after the most urgent needs in the province of
Albertato ensure the safest quality of water for those residents.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member.

MR. BONNER: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Alsotothesameminister.
Planning for water and wastewater infrastructure must be done with
significant lead time. Will the minister table a copy of the specific
projects being funded this year under water and wastewater grants?

MR. STELMACH: Yes.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Meadowlark,
followed by the hon. Member for Grande Prairie-Smoky.

Gasoline Pricing

MR. MASKELL: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Last week the price of
gasoline at the pumps rose to 72 and a half cents per litre, aprice
increase of 9 cents alitre over atwo-day period. My questionisto
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the Minister of Energy. My constituents would like an explanation
for thisrapid risein gasoline prices.

MR. SMITH: Well, Mr. Speaker, in a province where the most
pickup trucksin Canadaare sold each year and for good reason, it's
an important question. The price of gasolineisaffected by avariety
of factors. For example, the cost of crude oil, retail marketing,
transportation, distribution costs, taxes, |ocal market conditions, and
seasona considerations all play in this. However, world markets
also play apart in crude oil prices.

Now, what happens from a seasonal perspective, Mr. Speaker, is
that during the winter supplies of gasoline are drawn down and then
replenished in the springtime in storage facilities. The demand for
gasoline at the pumps in the spring often starts to increase before
these inventories can be replenished. So as soon as springtime
demand and increased supply start to match up, we do see abit of a
return to normal levels.

However, | can report to the member that today in Edmonton —
and | would direct membersto web sites using computer technol ogy
available right here in the Legidature, Mr. Spesker. The lowest
price of gas in Edmonton happens to be two blocks from the
Legislature; on Monday at 2 in the afternoon it was 68.9 cents. A
high price of 72.5 cents. This compares to a price of 75.8 cents at
the Pioneer station at Wellington and Dufferin in Aurora, Ontario,
and ahigh of 78.9 cents at a station at Ravenshoe and Woodbinein
Keswick. So we're still much cheaper than what we see in other
jurisdictions.

2:30

MR. MASKELL: Mr. Speaker, my first supplementary question is
to the Minister of Finance. Can the minister indicate whether the
province benefits from the higher retail prices of gasoline?

MRS. NELSON: Mr. Spesker, the province of Alberta charges 9
cents alitre on fuel at the pump no matter what the pump priceis.
So the higher spikein the price at the pump does not directly benefit
the provincia coffers that we look at. However, just so hon.
members will know, the federal government also charges 10 cents
alitre at the pump no matter what the pump priceisand, in addition
to that, charges Canadians 7 percent GST. So as the price at the
pump goes up, the one government jurisdiction that benefits is the
kissin’ cousins of those guys in Ottawa.

MR. MASKELL: My final question, Mr. Speaker, isto the Minister
of Energy. Can the minister indicate whether the province has any
plansto aleviate the sudden rise in gas prices?

THE SPEAKER: The hon. minister.

MR. SMITH: WEell, thank you, Mr. Speaker. The province, as
everyone in the House knows, does not interfere with the market-
place and has no part in setting retail gasoline prices, athough |
would say that in Albertathereisabit of agolden fleecein the cloud
in that every time the price of oil moves up a dollar, the royalty
bank, theroyalty pool, increasesby up to $153 million. That money,
again, is distributed throughout Alberta on a reasonable basis
through the Assembly in estimates, which we' re covering now.

| alsojust want to mention before| sit down, Mr. Speaker, that the
last installment of the $300 energy tax rebate, the onetime refund of
$300 that was paid in two equal installments, is arriving and has
been arriving, and | think this can aso hel p with gasoline costsin the
province of Alberta.

Thank you.

head: Members Statements
THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Glenora.

Heritage Savings Trust Fund

MR. HUTTON: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. It's my pleasure as
chairman of the Alberta Heritage Savings Trust Fund Committee to
announce that this week marks the 25th anniversary of the Alberta
heritage savingstrust fund. On May 19, 1976, the AlbertaHeritage
Savings Trust Fund Act was given roya assent. The heritage fund
was created because oil and gas prices were at an all-time high and
the government was collecting record amounts of nonrenewable
resource revenue. The government set up the heritage trust fund
from a portion of oil and gas revenues to be used as an investment
fund.

The heritage fund has benefited Albertans very well. In the late
'70sand ' 80s the fund was used to invest in capital projects such as
irrigation rehabilitation and expansion, renewable energy research,
Pine Ridge Forest Nursery enhancement, Alberta Family Life and
Substance Abuse Foundation, applied cancer research, and much,
much more. These projects provided lasting benefits to Albertans.

This government surveyed Albertans in 1995 about the future of
the heritage fund. Albertanstold us not to use the fund for capital
projects but to focus on providing greater returns for long-term
investments and to use the income that the fund generates to help
pay for the current priorities, Mr. Speaker. With the new focus the
government brought in changes to strengthen the accountability of
thefund in 1997. Now the heritage fund is worth $12.3 billion and
has earned about $1 billion ayear for the past three years.

The heritage fund will be a huge benefit for future generations of
Albertans. Albertaisavery different placethan it was 25 years ago,
Mr. Spesker, and the future of the heritage trust fund will be
discussed again at the province' supcoming Future Summit thisfall.

Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Cardston-Taber-Warner.

Town of Raymond

MR. JACOBS: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. The town of Raymond is
pleased to celebrate its 100th birthday on July 1, 2001. Raymond
has risen from the vision of Utah industrialist Jesse Knight to a
thriving community of 3,500 people. It has an agricultural back-
ground; farming and ranching have been the basis for its economic
growth. Light industry has assumed a maor role within the
community in recent years. Raymond has long claimed the honour
of being home of the first stampede, in 1902, conceived and
implemented by Jesse’s son, Raymond Knight, for whom the town
was named.

Thetown of Raymond has played amajor part in the development
of irrigation in southern Alberta and is a community noted for its
strongwork ethic and senseof fair play. Family, education, religion,
and sports have played a big part in the daily life of Raymond's
citizens. It has been said that Raymond’ s major export has been our
young people seeking to make a contribution to the world’s larger
stage. These youth have excelled in science, medicine, education,
business, cultura arts, and many other areas. Wherever you go, you
find someone from Raymond. They are proud of their heritage and
look forward to returning to their roots.

In this year of their centennia the town of Raymond invites
everyoneto come home and cel ebrate with them, remember the past,
be a part of the present, and look forward to the future as we share
the great pioneer heritage that we enjoy and of which we are so
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proud. Mr. Speaker, | offer congratulationsto the town of Raymond
and its people on their 100th birthday.
Thank you.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Gold Bar.

Social Assistance Rates

MR. MacDONALD: Thank you, Mr. Spesker. Itisfar too comfort-
able for many to expressthe notion in their comments on increasing
welfare allowances that welfare has produced dependency, unwill-
ingness to find employment, drug abuse, and crime.

Today | urgethe hon. Minister of Human Resources and Employ-
ment to immediately increase the allowances to the approximately
30,000 Albertans, mostly women and children, toreflect thereal cost
of living. The Ministry of Children’s Services recently reported a
relationship between income levels, including familiesin receipt of
SFI, and the growing number of children in care with the govern-
ment as their legal parent.

Have we forgotten Alberta’ s children when we adopt the attitude
that welfareisaprogram of last resort? To ensurethat recipientsare
not better off than other low-income Albertansisto ignorethe well-
being of many children and their immediate families.

The Alberta College of Social Workers has stated that, quote,
another consequence of the principle of least digibility is that
Alberta Human Resources and Employment claws back other
funding received by Albertans receiving welfare. For instance,
while the federal government has taken the step of introducing the
national child benefit asitscontributionto help reducechild poverty,
Alberta Human Resources and Employment eagerly claws back the
full amount of this federal benefit targeted to help infants and
children of parentson SFI. Directly or indirectly thesefederal funds
intended for the poorest and the youngest of our fellow citizens
become part of Alberta’s annua budgetary surplus. End of quote.

In Albertaasingle parent with one child under the age of 11 years
receives a standard allowance for two persons from the government
amounting to $305 a month. This allowance amounts to $4.92 per
day for the child. Each of usin this Chamber receives $100 per day
when wetravel thisprovinceon officia business. | urgetheminister
to increase SFI alowances immediately in order to reflect the
current cost of living in Alberta.

Thank you.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Calgary-West.

Glendale Elementary School

MS KRYCZKA: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. On Tuesday, April 24,
2001, | wasvery honoured to attend and speak to aspecial assembly
of students and staff and parents at Glendale elementary school in
Cagary-West, specia in that the student body proudly honoured
their principal, Lori Pamplin, winner of a 2001 PanCanadian
students' choice award.

During the past three years, Mr. Speaker, with Lori Pamplin’s
leadership Glendal e elementary school’ s students, parents, and staff
have together developed a truly remarkable sense of pride in their
achievements. The enthusiasm that day was truly infectious. Lori
has been a very effective and highly involved administrator in the
LEAP processin Cagary. Also, Glendaleisthefirst school in the
Calgary board of education to be working with the Galileo Educa-
tional Network, and it is working so well for the children.

2:40
At thisspecial school assembly, Mr. Spesker, | heard many words,

spoken and in songs, expressing appreciation which areimportant to
share with this Assembly today. All students actively participated
from ECS to grade 6, including many with specia needs and
handicapped students. Their lovefor Lori asafriend and leader was
expressed many times over. Lori was described as absolutely
exceptional and fair-minded. Lori was credited with creating a
wonderful learning environment, and there were the ultimate tears
of happiness, especially from Lori, as predicted.

Mr. Spesker, | highly commend PanCanadian Petroleum Limited
for their students choice awards program. One of the goasisto
encourage educators to continue to learn and improve as aresult of
positive recognition and professional development funding. The
program, as | observed, truly worksin that it encourages studentsto
notice the hel pfulness of their educators and to express appreciation
for their insight, dedication, and skill.

| congratulate Lori Pamplin and Glendale elementary school’s
students, parents, and staff on their achievements and wish them
continued success as they continue to work together to reach their
goals.

Thank you, Mr. Speaker.

THE SPEAKER: Hon. members, prior to going to Orders of the
Day, might we revert briefly to Introduction of Guests?

[Unanimous consent granted)]

head: Introduction of Guests
(reversion)

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Minister of Government Services.

MR. COUTTS: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. It's aways a pleasure to
introduce school groupswhen they come, particularly, amost asix-
hour drive from the breathtaking constituency of Livingstone-
Macleod. | would like to introduce 17 students and parent helpers
from the Rocky View Christian school in Pincher Creek. They are
led today by Mr. Don Esau, who is accompanied by parents and
helpers Mr. Galen Unruh, Mr. Merle Unruh, Mr. Ron Boese, Mrs.
Lola Boese, Mr. Jerry Toews, Mrs. Wilma Esau, Mrs. Lorraine
Unruh, and Mrs. Wendy Toews. They are seated in the members
gdlery, and | ask them to please rise and receive the traditional
warm welcome of the Assembly.

MR. LOUGHEED: Well, Mr. Speaker, I'm pleased to introduce to
you and through you to the members of the Assembly a couple of
young ladies, one visiting from Vancouver for afew days and the
other back in the area from her summer work placement. They are
my daughters, Allison and Kimberly. 1'd ask them to rise and
receive the welcome of the Assembly.

head: Ordersof the Day

head: Public Billsand Orders Other than
Government Billsand Orders
Second Reading

Bill 205
Municipal Government (Farming Practices Protection)
Amendment Act, 2001

[Adjourned debate May 9: Mr. Stevens]
THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Airdrie-Rocky View.

MS HALEY: Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker, and a specia
thank you to the Member for Lacombe-Stettler for bringing forward
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Bill 205. Thisisanincredibly important issuein Albertaright now,
onethat many in fact are totally unaware of.

Herein Alberta, in aprovincethat pridesitself on being business
friendly, we find ourselves|osing businessto other provinces. And
not just any business, Mr. Speaker, but value-added agribusiness.
Particularly now, with high input costs and low grain costs, one
would think that the higher end value-added would be incredibly
important to us. It is not that many years ago that agriculture was
the number one business in this province, and while it no longer
holdsthat esteemed position, it isstill one of thetop threeindustries
in our province, with over 115,000 people in Alberta employed
directly or indirectly in agriculturefrom both the primary production
and further up thefood chain to thefood processing and val ue-added
areas.

Over $22 hillion in our gross domestic product is because of
agriculture. Our farmers can and do compete with anyone in the
world, and when we say AlbertaBest, everyone here knowswhat we
are talking about. Even from my understanding of an articlein the
newspaper this week, they know what it meansin New Y ork, too,
when they talk about Alberta Best and the best beef that they can
sell. It'samajor attraction in New Y ork restaurants now. Alberta
beef, our poultry, our pork, our wheat for pasta, some of the finest
in the world, our potatoes for our plants down in southern Alberta.
We have sugar beets. We have vegetables, rye for whiskey, and
malt barley for beer. We have value-added crops like canola, flax,
and oats for cereal, as well as some of the finest oats in the world,
that are shipped out to Venezuela where they know that for their
racehorses these are the best oats anywhere in the world.

We can do all of this, yet we rarely think about it until someone
wants to raise some more hogs or some more cattle or some more
poultry. All of asudden we' rewilling to say: “Well, gee, wouldn’t
you liketo do that someplace €l se, you know, maybelikeathousand
miles from here, maybe in Saskatchewan or Manitoba? We really
don’t want any more intensive livestock in Alberta.”

One of our major exports is beef. | believe it was somewhere
around $5 billion worth last year, yet we don’t want to |et any more
feedlots be developed. In some cases it doesn’t seem to matter if
they meet all the requirements of the scientific community or not.
We seem somehow to find waysto change rules or find waysto just
simply delay the project in the hopes that it will go away. Thisisa
situation whererural and urban are not seeing eye to eye on process.
I would like to remind this Assembly that much of Alberta’ swealth
is generated in rural Alberta, and we have to guard against putting
the brakes on development and industry in rural Alberta. Agricul-
ture, industry, even our oil and gas are sometimes in question
because we' ve decided to do other things with rural Alberta. It is
something that seems to be occurring with greater and greater
frequency.

We have many areas of our province that are being subdivided
into acreage developments. Now, | think everyone understandswhy
people would want to move out into the country. | mean, it's
beautiful. It gives everyone a greater appreciation of our desire to
have our own little piece of heaven, and it's right here in Alberta,
just on our back step. However, when we do that, we have to
remember that industry, development, agriculture still need to be
ableto carry on creating the goods and products that we al depend
upon, in fact that we all derive our income from. We depend on our
farmers and our ranchers to produce the very goods that sustain us.
Wewant them to be of high quality and at reasonable prices, yet we
are making it more and more difficult for them to do that.

Onecompany herein Albertahaspurchased land only to find after
they met all — all, Mr. Speaker — al of the requirements for a hog
operation, that the MD changed the rules on them. It’sthree years

now and millions of dollarslater, and still no hog operation isbeing
alowed. Surely thisis not how we do business here. We have to
find a solution to this situation, and the Member for Lacombe-
Stettler has presented her version of what needs to be done.

However, Mr. Speaker, we do have an intensive livestock
committee working on areport that may also have some solutions.
I really think at this time we should be waiting for that report to
move through our process and have the opportunity to review it, to
finish whatever consultation needs to be done, and change the
legislation to be able to ensure that intensive livestock operations
can operate here and help us to further develop our value-added
goals.

So, Mr. Speaker, on that basis | would like to move that the
motion for second reading of Bill 205, Municipal Govern-
ment(Farming Practices Protection) Amendment Act, 2001, be
amended by deleting all the words after the word “that” and
substituting the following:

Bill 205, Municipal Government (Farming Practices Protection)
Amendment Act, 2001, be not now read a second time but that it be
read a second time this day six months hence.

Thank you, Mr. Speaker. | now have filed copies of that motion
with the Clerk.

THE SPEAKER: The Assembly now has before it an amendment.
The amendment is very clear in terms of what the hon. member
indicated, and such an amendment is debatable.

MS CARLSON: Mr. Speaker, | don't have the amendment before
me yet, but I'd like to make a few comments. When we see the
government bring forward hoist amendments on private members
bills, it doesn’t seem to be an appropriatething to do. The appropri-
ate manner to handle abill likethisisto. . .

THE SPEAKER: Hon. member, for clarification, the hon. Member
for Airdrie-Rocky View moved the amendment, and my understand-
ingisthat the hon. member isnot amember of the government. She
is aprivate member aswell.

MS CARLSON: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. The appropriate thing to
do on a hill like this is to put it before all the members of the
Assembly to vote on, either to support it or to not support it and
defeat the bill. To hoist it six months hence | don't think isin the
spirit in which the bill was brought forward, and | wouldn’t mind
hearing from the sponsor of the bill on this particular amendment.

THE SPEAKER: There is a question before the House at the
moment. | gather no other additional members want to participate.

[Motion on amendment carried]

2:50 Bill 206
Regional Health Authorities Conflicts of Interest Act

THE SPEAKER: The hon. member for Edmonton-Ellerslie on
behalf of the hon. Member for Lethbridge-East.

MS CARLSON: Thank you. Yes, on behalf of the Member for
Lethbridge-East | would like to start the discussions on Bill 206,
which is the Regional Health Authorities Conflicts of Interest Act.
We have anumber of concerns about conflicts of interest legidation
inthis Assembly, and certainly itisn’t just limited to RHAS, but that
is particularly what we would like to be able to discuss in this
Assembly, Mr. Speaker.

Regional health authorities have changed in format over the last
few years, and weare particul arly concerned that mattersare brought
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before them that have issues of conflict involved inthem. We have
anumber of concerns that talk about them.

[Mr. Shariff in the chair]

Here we have what we believe is an undermining of the public
health care system that we' d like to talk about. In general we'd like
to talk about reducing public confidence in the health care system
when conflictsarise. We' ve seen anumber of those instances occur
in this Legislature over the past few years, certainly during my
experience in this Legidature. We have concerns that conflict of
interest in the public health care system doesn’t correspond with
accepted practicesin the private sector or even in parts of thepublic
sector. Once again, we' ve seen several references to that occur in
the past few weeks here in this Legidature.

We could state that it’s the most important service that govern-
ment provides: health care. Weneed to ensurethat itiscrystal clear
in terms of the mode of delivery in thisprovince. Albertans need to
know beyond a shadow of a doubt, Mr. Speaker, that conflicting
interests play no part in the health care delivery system. We seethat
with alack of uniform conflicts of interest legislation before usin
this province, certainly applicable to all RHAS, we have very grave
concerns about the ability to monitor and deal with conflicts,
potential or otherwise.

It will beinteresting to hear, Mr. Speaker, what other members of
this House have to say on thisbill. I'll take my seat at thistime.

[Dr. Nicol rose]

THE ACTING SPEAKER: Hon. member, you will have your
moment to close debate. Under Beauchesne you'd be the last
speaker to close the debate.

The hon. Member for Innisfail-Sylvan Lake.

MR. OUELLETTE: Thank you, Mr. Speaker, for allowing me to
speak to Bill 206, the Regional Heath Authorities Conflicts of
Interest Act. Let mejust preface by saying that | applaud the intent
of thishill. Crystal-clear regulationson potential conflictsof interest
and a systematic mechanism to enforce these regulations are
essential to the smooth functioning of any government- related
authority. Government authorities, appointed or elected, are
bestowed with auniquetrust, thetrust of the people of thisprovince.
When thereis afailurein thistrust, the damageis not just in terms
of lost dollarsor in terms of forfeited efficiency. Rather, the damage
from a conflict of interest in government-related authorities is a
betrayal of Albertans. It is atrust forsaken, that cannot easily or
potentialy ever be rebuilt.

Building up a strong trust of the people of this province is
especidly crucia in the field of health care. Health care makes up
thesinglelargest areaof expendituresfor thisprovincewith abudget
expected to approach $7 billion thisyear. Health care often involves
decision-making on a daily basis by professionals with information
that only experts can understand, and these decisions haveimmense
impact on the lives of Albertans. Most importantly, health care
decisions are very often made for people when they are ill or
otherwise vulnerable. For all these reasons the standard that the
government setsto eliminate conflict of interest must beraised to its
absolute highest in the case of hedlth care.

Thus, Mr. Speaker, | amnot at all opposed to theintent of thishill.
Instead, | am deeply concerned about the process implied by this
bill. 1 wish to bring forth this afternoon two reasons why this
legislation is unnecessary and potentially a danger to its intended
cause of ensuring high quality of health carein this province.

First, Mr. Speaker, | will reaffirm that current legislation and
guidelines to deal with conflict of interest problems in the health
carefield arethoughtfully designed and tested. | will emphasizethat
current legislation iscomprehensive, systematic, transparent: all the
standards necessary to be appropriate and efficient.

Second, Mr. Speaker, | will demonstrate that Bill 206, for al its
good intentions, has the potential to do harm to the very cause it
purports to seek improvement with: the delivery of quality health
care in this province. It will take away valuable resources from
critical health care areas and place them in areas where they are
likely redundant. Moreover, the structured system of checks and
balances as it exists today with clear accountability and authority
may become abungled mess. Overlaps, inefficiencies, and abdica
tionsof responsibility could ultimately lower the standard of conflict
of interest regulations in this province.

Let me begin by explaining a bit about how current conflict of
interest guidelines in health care work in this province, how the
system as it stands is systematic, offering an unambiguous mecha-
nism for resolving conflict of interest disputes, how it'scomprehen-
sive, complete with legislation for all participantsin the health care
field, how it is transparent, open to areasonable level of scrutiny,
and how it is understandable such that all those affected by the
regulations are aware of their obligations.

The most direct legislation that deals with conflict of interest
regulation in health authorities in this province is the Regional
Health Authorities Act. Asmembersof thisLegislature we are well
aware that the Regional Health Authorities Act, which came into
effect in 1994, divided Alberta into 17 health authorities, each
endowed with the responsibility of budgeting and delivering health
careintheir respective geographicregions. Section 6.1(1) of thisact
clearly states:

A regional health authority shall make by-laws governing conflict

of interest in respect of members of the authority, agents of the

authority and senior officers and employees of the authority.
It further states that each of these sets of bylaws must be “approved
in writing by the Minister” of Health and Wellness. Indeed, Mr.
Speaker, each and every one of Alberta’s 17 health authorities has
completed these guidelines or isin the process of completing them.

The Calgary regiona health authority, for example, has adopted
what it terms a conflict of interest bylaw. In it you will find
reference to regulations governing members of the authority and
agents of the authority. In it you will find reference to abusing the
public role and the full disclosure of private interests. These are
phrases and concepts that are literally duplicated in sections of Bill
206. These bylaws aready exist and have the reach and the depth
that Bill 206 claimsit will introduce into Alberta. The regulations
suggested by Bill 206 are dready in place.

A second measure by which conflict of interest is currently
regulated i sthrough the Heal th and Wellness department itself. Yes,
each of the separate authorities has a distinct code of ethics, but
ultimately each and every board member and each and every
employee of the regional authority isresponsible to the Minister of
Health and Wellness. The Calgary regiona health authority’s
conflict of interest bylaw, for instance, concludes by noting that this
bylaw does not preclude the minister from making such decisions
and taking steps to enforce conflict of interest procedures.

So, Mr. Speaker, asecond layer of enforcement prevails. Not only
has each regional health authority written up aset of regulations, but
the Minister of Health and Wellness continues to take ultimate
responsibility for whatever actions are taken by the authorities. The
minister is, of course, subject to the aready existing Conflicts of
Interest Act. Thismeansthat all aspects of the Health and Wellness
ministry, including the regional hedlth authorities, are aready
subject to avery thorough set of regulations.



May 15, 2001

Alberta Hansard 581

3:00

This also means that regional health authorities are subject to the
scrutiny of the Alberta Ethics Commissioner. | note this point
because Bill 206 places quite an emphasis on utilizing the Ethics
Commissioner to enforce conflict of interest regulations. By virtue
of theway thisgovernment has structured regional health authorities
to be accountabl e to the minister, the Ethics Commissioner aready
playsarole.

A particular point raised in Bill 206 isin regulating conflicts of
health authority board members. Thisfall, as| am sureall members
of this Assembly are aware, Albertanswill be going to the pollsfor
the first time to elect two-thirds of the members of their respective
health authorities. The remaining one-third of the positions will
continue to be appointed by the Minister of Health and Wellness. |
can see why this change might cause special concern. Indeed, |
would hope all members would be interested in the new challenges
this system will present to conflict of interest guidelines in health
care.

Vastly more people are now going to have asay and an influence
inthe processto make up regional authority membership. Therewill
be different groups of health professionals, companiesthat provide
health services, nongovernmental organizations, and individuals
seeking to have their concerns addressed by candidates and imple-
mented by the various authorities.

This conclusion of a wide body of interests and groups in
composing health authority membership is by no means necessarily
detrimental to health care delivery in this province. Indeed, this
level of involvement isapart of how democracy works. It will help
make health care providers moreresponsible on alocal level, which
was the intention of this government. Yet in allowing more people
into the process of the health authority composition, the scrutiny that
can be placed on each and every person involved is inherently
diluted. The resourcesthat were previously used in avery focused
method when regional health authority board memberswere chosen
by a method of selection must now be spread across a wider
spectrum. Thismeansthat conflict of interest guidelines need to be
especially comprehensive, and they need to be especialy well
understood. The absolute necessity that proper ethics be followed
is heightened once again.

These new challenges presented with the election of regional
health authority boards, Mr. Speaker, are partly why thisgovernment
tabled Bill 7 thissession. This government has considered the new
challenges posed by elected health authorities and has extended and
tightened up conflict of interest regulationsin this areato pre-empt
any potentia flaws at this time. Once the amendment is enacted,
specific guidelines in matters of conflicts of interest will be applied
to the election process for regiona heath authorities. Rules for
disclosure of contributionswill be more specific, rulesfor candidate
finances will become more firm, and rules for relationship between
candidates and employees of the regional health authority will be
clarified. Inother words, yet another level of accountability will be
introduced into the effort to enforce a strong conflict of interest
policy.

Mr. Speaker, there are moreregulationssstill. Doctors and nurses
are subject to stringent conflict of interest guidelines governed by
their respective professiona bodies. Theseguidelinesnot only place
strict limitations and stern punishment on matters of money but also
in matters relating to the ethics of being a health professional, a
career that involves avery unique relationship with patients. There
isan enormous amount of responsibility falling into the hands of the
caregiver and an enormous amount of faith on behalf of patients.
Self-regulation inside the profession ensures that the strictest
standards are maintai ned.

So, Mr. Speaker, you can seethat there aready existsan elaborate
and elegantly designed framework for regulation of conflict of
interest. There are the regulations that each of the 17 regional
authorities are writing up as stipulated by the Regional Health
Authorities Act. There is the ultimate responsibility of the Health
and Wellness minister and the involvement of the Ethics Commis-
sioner in overseeing all services provided by the provincia govern-
ment, including health care. There'sinternal monitoring provided
by the professional bodies that many people in the hedth care
community belong to.

| have established, Mr. Speaker, that Bill 206 isredundant. | also
wish to point out that excessive legidation can be dangerous, and in
the case of Bill 206 the potential of danger is great. First, the
enforcement of this new legislation could be costly in terms of time
and money. For instance, if the Ethics Commissioner is expected to
fulfill awider range of duties, then the resources and effectiveness
of this office will be stretched beyond its current capacity. Almost
certainly moreresourceswill haveto be allocated to the office of the
commissioner. These are resources that could’ ve been placed in a
number of areas including the delivery of health care.

Secondly, Mr. Speaker, overlapping legidation causes harm
because it confuses responsibility and confuses honest efforts at
fulfilling duties. With the new layer of governance that would be
implied with Bill 206, which code is of the highest authority? My
concern is that people might not know the answer to this question,
and that accountability would be compromised.

Mr. Speaker, | understand and strongly agree with the goal of
making watertight conflict of interest legislation governing health
care provisions in this province. We need a mechanism that is
systematic, comprehensive, transparent, and understandable. | will
not pretend for a moment that the system we currently have is
perfect, but | disagree that passing this bill will bring us any closer
to achieving that perfection. In fact, by creating duplicate legisla
tion, it will undermine the efficiency of the current system.
Governance over conflict of interest in Alberta health delivery
dready exists. Thereisaframework of |egislation emanating from
the health care authorities act, and thereisthe disciplineimposed by
professional organizationsinvolved in health care.

| urge all members this afternoon to vote against Bill 206. In
doing this, Mr. Speaker, members will be recognizing that our
government has a clear plan with respect to health care delivery in
this province and that we have been especialy stringent and
proactive with respect to conflict of interest legislation.

Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker.

THE ACTING SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Drayton Valley-
Camar.

REV. ABBOTT: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Itisan honour for meto
riseand join thedebate on Bill 206, the Regional Health Authorities
Conflicts of Interest Act. Over the last 50 years this province has
experienced a successful evolution of health care governance. The
Department of Heath and Wellness and this government have
implemented years of comprehensive planning to ensurethat oursis
the best possible hedlth care system.

Health care is very important to Albertans. Health-related issues
will continue to arise as Alberta' s population ages. One important
way we are proactively increasing the effectiveness and efficiency
of our health care systemis by removing alayer between RHAsand
the electorate. The move to electing two-thirds of our regional
health authority board members has been a long and complex
process and one that | feel has aready dealt with the concerns
brought forward in Bill 206.
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The 17 health authorities will continue to operate under the
Department of Health and Wellness, and the board members will
continue to work under a stringent system of checks and bal ances.
Along with answering to the Minister of Health and Wellness, most
members of the 17 heath authorities will aso answer to the
electorate.

Mr. Spesker, conflicts of interest will not be a problem under our
new system. I'm confident that our RHAs will operate with
conviction while maintaining focus and achieving their goals. | am
confident that the best decisionswill be madefor setting avisionand
direction for their region. Board membersand senior staff will work
together to develop alarge vision for as many services as possible.
I’m confident that the best decisions will be made for developing a
business plan, including making thetough budget decisions, and I’'m
confident that the RHA board memberswill betalking to community
leaders, families, and individual s about health issuesin their region.
Those who are elected from the people and by the people will be
accountable to the people.

3:10

Mr. Speaker, people have asked: why elect two-thirds of our
RHAS? Why elect 126 members and appoint 63? Well, the idea of
combining elected and appointed RHA boards comes as aresult of
years of planning and numerous meetings with al stakehol ders.

In 1995 this government released Selecting Regional Health
Authority Members, adiscussion paper and survey. Feedback from
constituents told us to create a framework to elect members for
Alberta's 17 health regions while maintaining accountability to a
broader vision of health servicesfor theentire province. Anelection
gives people living in the region a direct role in selecting members
but also encourages constituents to voice concerns and supply
feedback to help their RHAs make the best decisions possible.

One weskness of the current situation of appointments is the
perceived biasthat existsin the selection process. Elected members
will add aunique voiceand fresh ideasfor thefuture of healthinthis
province. An election processencouragesAlbertansto get involved.
More Albertans involved will mean more diversity. Morediversity
will mean more ideas. More ideas will create better solutions to
issues relating to health service delivery.

We had very specific reasonsfor retaining a portion of appointed
members. Feedback from stakehol dersincluding health professional
associ ationsand heal th providersadvised thisgovernment to appoint
members, allowing themto focusstrictly on health issuesrather than
on constituent concerns.  Stakeholders were concerned about
maintaining a balance among the board members such that boards
would be accountable to the whole region, accountable to all
demographic groups, and accountable to the province. Appointing
members prevents the threat of turf protection and encourages co-
operation betweenregions. Also, through appointmentstheMinister
of Health and Wellness can ensure that each board hasthe expertise
to successfully initiate health proposals and business plans.

Health providers were concerned about elected board members
ability to make controversial and essential decisions, especialy
regarding policy and budget issues. Other stakeholders agreed that
appointments reduce the chances for single-interest candidates and
their possibleinability to work as ateam with other board members.

As we move toward our new system of elected RHAS, this
government has reduced the very possibility of conflicts of interest.
Thisiswhy | cannot support Bill 206.

| also question the use of the office of the Ethics Commissioner to
monitor RHA boards, which is another thrust of Bill 206. The
Ethics Commissioner aready monitors MLAs, including the
Minister of Health and Wellness. | fail to see sufficient benefit for

regiona health authority members to answer to him aswell. I'm
worried about extending the responsibilities of the Ethics Commis-
sioner. Each region has unique issues that are best resolved at the
local or regional level. The commissioner will have limited
resources to monitor the more than 200 RHA board members
scattered throughout the province. Therefore, Bill 206 isadvocating
either one of two things, either an increased bureaucracy or a
remarkably less effective office of the Ethics Commissioner. | find
either option undesirable.

I’m worried that the availability of the office or person of the
Ethics Commissioner could deteriorate for MLAS or government
officials. Up until now the office of the Ethics Commissioner has
been exclusively used by members of this Assembly and senior
government officials. We cannot add to his responsibilities without
either increasing the resources available to his office or even
increasing the number of commissioners.

Mr. Speaker, let me give you a humorous analogy. Our Ethics
Commissioner is a shepherd of a group of sheep. The shepherd
makes surethat the sheep eat the right kinds of grass and do not play
near cliffsor near the dark woods where the wolveslurk. What Bill
206 proposes is that the shepherd be responsible now for a much
larger field, leaving a portion of his flock of sheep to fend for
themselves. Members of this Legislature and senior government
officials rely on the guidance of our shepherd, the Ethics Commis-
sioner. To restrict or to remove or to dilute his availability to this
government would be nearsighted and ill advised.

The RHAs are separate, smaller flocks protected by the steep
mountain ranges called RHA codes of conduct and bylaws. Why
would we want to extend our shepherd to already regulated flocks
which have no need of the Ethics Commissioner, only to leave the
sheep herein thisfield unprotected?

Well, let’ skeep thisissuein perspective. The Minister of Health
and Wellness has the final say and the final approva for RHA
decisions. Each RHA’s responsibility includes managing their
region’s resources and allocating funds, but they are ultimately
accountableto the minister. Heinturnisalready accountableto the
Ethics Commissioner. Thisisthe systemwe havein place, and this
isthe system that works. | have confidence that our board members
will be responsible and ethical while acting under the framework of
existing codes of conduct and bylaws.

Thisgovernment continuesto improve our health care systemand
to improve our conflict of interest guidelinesfor our regional health
authorities. 1 would liketo point out that Bill 7, the Regional Health
Authorities Amendment Act, 2001, which sets the RHA election
process in motion, requires disclosure of all records relating to
election finances, and it ensures that the rules set out for regional
hedlth authority candidates are the same as the rules for MLA
candidates.

Another amendment from Bill 7 gives government the authority
to make regulations regarding who makes contributions, the timing
and manner of making contributions, the maximum amount of
contributions, and penalties for violation. Mr. Speaker, these are
very thorough amendments that specifically preclude conflicts of
interest and ensure fair, efficient RHA election financing.

Bill 206 would not adequately improveregul ationsand principles
for regional health authority membersto justify the expense and the
duplication that it would entail.

| must say, Mr. Speaker, that | agree in principle with the intent.
Conflicts of interest are completely unacceptable, especialy in
health care. However, | cannot support Bill 206 asit stands. To
include RHA board members as an additional responsibility of the
Ethics Commissioner would reduce the availability of his office and
personto MLAsand senior government officials. Also, the potential
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for regional health authority board members to be in a conflict of
interest situation is, by the nature of the division of responsibilities
of the authorities and the Minister of Health and Wellness, limited.
The Conflicts of Interest Act already governsthe Minister of Health
and Wellness, who in turn is ultimately responsible for the regional
health authorities.

So | urge al members of this Assembly to vote against Bill 206.
Although it has the best of intentions, it duplicates existing guide-
lines and dilutes the office of our Ethics Commissioner.

Thank you.

THE ACTING SPEAKER: Thehon. Member for Edmonton-Centre.

MS BLAKEMAN: Thanks very much, Mr. Speaker. |I'm readly
pleased to be able to speak to the first of the Official Opposition’s
private members' bills being introduced in this spring session of
2001. Specifically, that's Bill 206, Regional Health Authorities
Conflicts of Interest Act.

Now, this|egislation applies comprehensive and uniform conflict
of interest rules to all regional health authorities, board members,
and employees, aswell asto the contractors and independent health
service providersthat have acontractual relationship with aregiona
health authority. | think thislegislation isimportant for anumber of
reasons, firstly because it addresses current and future conflicts of
interest outlined by providing a conflict of interest definition and a
mechanism by which conflicts of interest can be investigated. The
bill aso requiresthat reoccurring or ongoing conflicts must result in
either the termination of the relationship with the RHA or the
divestiture of the asset causing the conflict. We certainly have
examples, which I’ [l comeback to later, that giveriseto the need for
that.

Secondly, we' relooking at Bill 206 applying auniform standard.
A number of the other members have commented on how there are
two or three or four or five different ways already in place where
conflict of interest could be perceived. But that istwo or three or
four or five different methods in different levels of government,
different agencies in the community where someoneis supposed to
fumble around and figure out which one applies to them, or maybe
they can just pick the onethey likethe best and decidethat it applies
to them.

3:20

Bill 206 is providing a uniform standard of conflict of interest
rulesfor al regional health authorities, and that’ san important point
because right now we have checkerboarding in place. Each regional
health authority can decide on its own conflict of interest regula-
tions. So if you're in one area and you don't like the conflict of
interest rules, well, go to another one, because the next-door RHA
may well have a set of conflict of interest rules that you like better,
which really alows people to sort of shop around, go conflict of
interest shopping to find which one you like best.

I think it'simportant with something as vital to Albertans as the
delivery of health care services that we have legidation that
overrides them al. We don’'t have a heslth act that in fact is 17
different health acts. We have one health act that’s overriding for
provision of health care throughout Alberta. Ideally, you are
attempting to provide the same kind of health carein any outlet for
it. That’snot, strictly speaking, aways possible. Obvioudly inafull
service hospital you get different things than in a wak-in medi
clinic. But theideais there, that we have one overriding goal and
legislation to provide health care servicesin Alberta, and | think we
need to have one overriding conflict of interest act that covers al
regional health authorities in the province.

So the first is that it does provide a definition of conflict of
interest and a mechanism by which this can be investigated. Two,
it provides a uniform standard for al regiona health authorities.
Three is about restoring public confidence in Alberta' s health care
system. Any kind of perceived inequity | think is going to be
damaging to the health care providers, certainly to the regional
health authorities, even to the legislators. It damages al of us if
thereis aweakening of belief in the system, and conflict of interest
I think is quite integral to Albertans' belief in our system.

A number of memberswho’ ve spoken previously have mentioned
that there were already these various other levels of conflict of
interest regulationsin place. | think it'simportant to point out that
none of those is as strong as what's being proposed in Bill 206.
They’re addressing different components of it, but even together,
evenif you took all different levelsand put them together, wewould
not be successful in making it as strong as what’ s being put forward
in Bill 206.

One of the members did bring up —and | think it’s important to
underline it — that we need to get these conflict of interest regula-
tions in place prior to the elections of regional health authority
members in conjunction with the October municipal elections. |
think it’ simportant that peopl ethat are considering running for these
positions know what they’ re getting into before the fact.

There' s one particular incident that was before the courts, is now
completed by the courts, and has been discussed in this House a
number of times, which is the Jaber case. That’sinvolving conflict
of interest, and it keeps coming up. Constituents keep asking about
it. People are really concerned when they perceive that thereis a
conflict of interest out there. So it’s important that we put thisin
context and try and provide the very best that we can for Albertans.

Now, | find it interesting why there is such resistance on the part
of government and government backbenchers to doing something
that’s better than what we have. But that seemsto be what’s going
on: no, no, no; we like our sort of patchwork; we like our different
multilevel ones. Why the resistance to doing something right, to
doing something well, to setting the bar high? | thought that as
Albertanswewanted the best, so why on earth wouldn’t we want the
best conflict of interest legislation possible? But no, no, no. What
I’m hearing is no, no, no; we don’t want the best conflict of interest
legidlation possible; please, no, we don’t want to go there. So why
theinsistence on the status quo? | find that really interesting, and |
invite those other members that are, I'm sure, going to be speaking
to this bill to explain that to me, why there' s an insistence on being
second or third best here. 1’d be interested in hearing that.

The government finds questions on conflict regarding the Calgary
RHA astiresome, but | don’t think Albertans regard it that way. |
think that for Albertans perception and actuality of fairnessisreally
important. They want to know that nobody is getting a better deal
or getting something that is not available to others because of that
first person’s position, and that’s what we are trying to address in
Bill 206.

[The Deputy Speaker in the chair]

Albertans aso don't like overregulation. You know, there are
these interesting sort of Orwellian flips that this government gets
involved in, where they will stand up with one piece of legislation
and talk about, “Well, wewant to simplify things; we want to sweep
away everything else and just have one set of rules here,” and then
they get up and protest a bill that’s proposing to do exactly that, to
put forward one clear set of conflict of interest ruleswhich overrides
al of these other various levels in various divisions that are in
existence now. So here's an example of where the government is



584 Alberta Hansard

May 15, 2001

struggling mightily to maintain a multilayered, fractured set of
conflict of interest regulations that frankly are very difficult to wade
through and confusing. | mean, | heard government memberslist at
least three different schemes by which conflict of interest could be
determined. Why don’t we make that smpler? Let’s makeit one,
and let'smake it the best. Let’s set the bar absolutely high and do
the best we can here on behalf of al Albertans.

| was interested also to hear about how we should be delegating
the obligation for conflict of interest to the professional organiza-
tions. Well, wedon't do that in any other area. Why on earth would
we choose the health industry, that most precious of our public
socia programs, to do a test-drive on this one? What the profes-
sional organizations codes of ethics are about is their members
conduct in relation to patients. So if we' re talking about the nurses,
the doctors, other health care workers, it's about their conduct with
their patients. It isnot about delivery of the system asawhole. So
why on earth would the government decide they’ re going to throw
that oneinto the pot too?

Now we'll have 17 individua RHAS' conflict of interest rules.
WEe' Il have some conflict of interest rules from the department itself.
Let's throw in the minister’s ability to make regulations through
cabinet, to make additiona rulesthat people—oh, wait. Let’sthrow
in the professional organizationstoo. Let’smakethemdoit aswell
without even looking at what isthereal purpose of that professional
organization. So talk about interfering in the way other people do
business; that’s a prime example of that one.

Now, | think with conflict of interest what we are most interested
in is that the rules need to have three parts to it. One is the legal
principles of the fiduciary trust; two, the rule of law; and three,
fairness. Fiduciary trust is referring to the responsibility of public
officials to act on behalf of and in the best interests of the public.
The rule of law argues that democratic society needs unbiased
judgesand administratorswho provideimpartial decisions. If public
officialsexercise. . .

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER: | hesitate to interrupt the hon. Member
for Edmonton-Centre, but the time limit for consideration of this
item of business on this day has expired.

3:30

head: Motions Other than Government Motions

Electricity Deregulation

503. Dr. Nicol moved:
Beit resolved that the Legidative Assembly urge the govern-
ment to prepareannually adetailed cost-benefit anaysisof the
impact of electricity deregulation on the utility bills on all
classes of customersin Albertawhich must be released to the
public.

[Debate adjourned May 8: Mr. MacDonald speaking]
THE DEPUTY SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Calgary-Fort.

MR. CAQ: Thank you, Mr. Speaker, for the opportunity to speak on
Motion 503, as proposed by the hon. Member for Lethbridge-East.
Before speaking specifically about the motion itself, | want to
emphasize that the whole idea or the principle of deregulation is
about finding the natural dynamic balance between supply and
demand.

Going back to the motion as proposed, an annual cost-benefit
analysis of the impact of electricity deregulation on the utility bills
of al Albertans, being a fan of economic studies, | commend the
hon. member for the notion of a cost-benefit analysis. This sort of
analysis can be very helpful when considering certain issues.

However, | do not think this sort of a report would really capture
what is happening with deregulation across Alberta

What Motion 503 basicaly proposes is taking a once a year
snapshot of the entire ongoing process of deregulation and then
comparing that to a series of guesses of what might have happened
in the sametime framein theregulated system. Mr. Speaker, would
this analysis be able to show the advantage to the marketplace with
increased choice for consumers? Would it demonstrate the impact
of improved servicesasaresult of competition, or would it show the
benefits of increased usage of alternative energy sources? What
about the increased use of environmentally friendly generation like
wind and solar power? Can it realy calculate the benefit to our
environment? | don’t think it would.

I’m concerned that such an annual analysis based on a series of
assumptions would also miss the big picture of the entire deregula-
tion process. Thebigpictureisthat Alberta s utilities market is till
in a period of transition from being closed and regulated to being
open and competitive. New playersareentering themarket. Current
players are retooling operations and repositioning to compete more
effectively and efficiently, and consumers are preparing to weigh
their options over which provider might be best suited to meet their
particular needs.

Anannual cost-benefit analysiscould not capturethismomentous
shift, Mr. Speaker. It could not give a proper account of the
metamorphosis and all the intangible aspects of deregulation. This
report could not show Albertans how deregulation is gradually
reshaping the province's utilities, industries, and marketplace.

When this government first introduced the Electric Utilities Act
in 1985, it marked the province' s departure down the open road to
a competitive utility market. The act was not meant to have an
overnight impact on Alberta’s utility market. The act was along-
term strategy to eventually achieve a market-driven utility industry.
This system brings the benefits of competition to customers by
providing them with choice over their retail supplier of power, the
types of services they receive, and how they participate in the
market. Asmore supplierscome on-line, competition for consumers
will increase, and that will work to bring prices down over the long
term. Thisis the process that began with the Electric Utilities Act
and was furthered with the introduction of the Electric Utilities
Amendment Act.

As | said before, competitive marketplaces do not unfold over-
night. Mr. Speaker, the one that will benefit Albertans is emerging
even aswe speak. It isthis new and open setting that will become
more and more competitive, and that will mean more choices for
Albertans. That isthe long-term goa of this government.

There are other benefits to deregulation, Mr. Speaker. The new
electricindustry structurewill help open up marketsfor green power
and renewable energy sources. Wind power, small hydro, landfill
gas, and biomass sources will have an equal opportunity in the new
generation market. Consumerswill have the chance to choose from
agreen power packagethat includespower from solar-powered wind
generation.

In addition, the new deregulated electrical industry structure is
expected to bring other environmental benefitsto the province. The
new structure encourages cogeneration at industrial plants, and this
tends to reduce the overall amount of fossil fuels that are burned to
generate electricity throughout Alberta.

Mr. Speaker, by reducing our use of fossil fuels, we are aso
reducing our greenhouse gasemissionsand providing Albertanswith
cleaner air to breathe. Thiskind of power is very much the way of
the future. The deregulation of the utilities market in Alberta is
encouraging that growth of green power. As more providers of
green power enter the marketplace, they will be among the cutting
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edge of environmentally friendly power generation. Alberta
entrepreneurs who have learned the ropes of competing in an open
market with green power in Alberta will be ideally positioned to
compete in a steady stream of jurisdictions across Canada and
around the world that are moving towards deregul ation.

Mr. Speaker, in fact, in my Calgary constituency an electricity
consumer can subscribe with utility suppliers to buy green power.
There are environmentally conscious consumers who do just that
happily, even at a higher premium rate. Albertans are very smart.
| disagreewith any notion that underestimates Albertans’ knowledge
and understanding. When it comes to their quality of life and
benefits, Albertans do not just focus on a dollar-and-cents compari-
son of their utility bills.

This government has made a commitment to preserving our
environment for future generations of Albertans. Deregulation not
only benefits the provincial consumer, but it encourages the
development of generation of more environmental ly friendly power.
Giving green power producers atoehold in this new market shows
the government’s commitment to preserving our beautiful prov-
ince’ senvironment. Rest assured, Mr. Speaker, that thisgovernment
will continue to promote the use of green power to the benefit of all
Albertans.

Thereis onething that a cost-benefit analysis would reveal to be
the same in aregulated and deregulated Alberta. Regulations till
exist in regards to transmission of power and the utility companies
that own the high-voltage lines that bind the grid together. Obvi-
ously, Mr. Speaker, as new generation comes on-line, our existing
grid will have to have the transmission capacity to deal withit. The
government will work with the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board
and the utility companiesto ensure that Albertans receive the power
they require.

Mr. Speaker, the yearly cost-benefit analysis proposed by Motion
503 would not do justiceto the ongoing evol ution of Alberta sutility
market. Such an anaysis would provide a shortsighted view of the
impact on the industry and on Albertans. Deregulation is an
evolving process that cannot be revealed by a yearly snapshot for
comparison.

3:40

But my question is about the comparison itself. To compare what
with what and what for? Scientifically speaking, we can only
comparereliably oneexisting thing with another existing thingin the
sameenvironmental condition. Economically acomparisonwithout
the capability to make changeisaresource-consuming and wasteful
exercise. | do not want to exaggerate here, but | wonder if thiskind
of comparison is like an exercise to compare the ways of the
dinosaurs with the ways of the nimble creatures of today.

| acknowledge the good intention of the hon. Member for
Lethbridge-East. However, considering the practicality and the
usefulness, | urge all members of this Assembly to vote against
Motion 503.

Thank you, Mr. Speaker.

[Motion Other than Government Motion 503 |ost]

Prosperity Dividend

504. Mr. Yankowsky moved:
Beit resolved that the Legidlative Assembly urge the govern-
ment to investigate the possibility of creating a prosperity
dividend payableto all Albertaresidentsthat issimilar to the
Alaska permanent fund dividend program.

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-
Beverly-Clareview.

MR. YANKOWSKY': Thank you, Mr. Speaker. It isindeed my
pleasure to rise to introduce Motion 504 this afternoon, which
advocatesthat the government consider asound option in managing
surplus revenue responsibly. Motion 504 urges the government to
explore the possibility of implementing a dividend fund similar to
the Alaska permanent fund. Learning from Alaska' s successes and
errors in managing their surplus revenue will help us manage our
funds wisely in the emerging era of prosperity.

Mr. Speaker, the state of Alaska has implemented a fund of
surplus resource revenue which pays direct dividends to dl its
residents. Their fund, the Alaska permanent fund, or APF, hasbeen
very successful and holds assets of more than $42 billion Canadian.
Every year the fund distributes earnings from its diverse invest-
ments, and just last year each Alaskan received more than $3,000
Canadian.

The dividend can be collected by anyone declaring their primary
residence to be Alaska, demonstrating residency, and not having
served a criminal sentence over the year of application. Children,
with the sponsorship of their parent or guardian, can aso apply and
receive the same dividend as permanent Alaska residents.

The resource revenue placed into the principal of the fund cannot
bewithdrawn without the consent of themajority of voters, and none
of theresourcerevenue placed into thefund ispaid out in dividends.
All of the money paid to Alaskans comes from earnings on invest-
ments purchased with resource revenues on an ongoing basis.

In this way, growth of the fund is sustainable and quite amazing
redly. It is no wonder that Alaskans are so proud. The sound
investment of resource revenue has achieved and maintained for
Alaskans a sustainable return on their investment. Because the
Alaskapermanent fund was established in 1976 and allowed to grow
and prosper through the good times, the fund continues to serve all
Alaskansin spite of their declining resource revenues. By sending
dividendsstraight to all Alaskans, including children of all ages, the
program is not only a way to fairly distribute resource earnings to
current and future generations. It will act asasource of incomelong
after revenues from oil and gas are exhausted.

There are severa advantages to the APF. The fund achievesiits
three goals of providing an annual dividend to Alaskans, providing
revenue for program spending, and achieving constant growth. Itis
a distinct advantage of the APF that it is designed to only pay out
half of its yearly earnings on the principal. When the interest from
each year is allowed to continually compound itself, dlong with the
annual contributionsfrom the oil and gas revenue thefund can grow
at an amazing rate.

Another advantage of the Alaskan model isthat it pays dividends
to al of itsresidents. Alaskans take great pride in their fund, and
thisincome raises everyone' s standard of living. Even the children
are given the dividend through a parent or guardian, aswe all know
that raising children can be very costly. This equitable distribution
enables families to grow and prosper in Alaska regardless of their
background or income aside from the dividend.

Along with paying dividends, the fund aso contributes to
Alaska's genera revenue. This income has alowed the state
Legidature to eliminate severa taxes. This is done through an
appropriation of undistributed earnings. Last year aone $1.23
billion of surplus earnings were spent on government programs and
services. When we consider that the population of Alaskais less
than that of Calgary, it is truly amazing that they have built a fund
of such strength and potential.

This fund has served Alaskans extremely well. Although the
current paymentisrel atively modest, just over $3,000 Canadian, that
dividend will continueto grow regardless of futureresourcerevenue
being put into the fund. The dividend paid out to Alaskans has
grown fivefold since 1986 mostly due to resource revenues added
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annually but also because of outstanding returns on investment. On
average over the past five years the dividend has grown by 9 percent
each year. Accordingto that growth ratethe dividend doublesevery
eight years. If this rate of growth is maintained, the fund will be
able to supplant the average income of an Alaskan before the year
2040. That, Mr. Speaker, is a very conservative estimate that
accommodates for inflation. The fund has a value of just over
$35,000 per Alaskan resident and has earned over $20 billion over
thelife of the fund.

Mr. Spesker, Alberta would have equally good fortune through
implementing adividend fund. Albertahasaproven track recordin
the sound and productive management of the Alberta heritage
savings trust fund, and it goes to reason that we would experience
similar success with adividend type of fund. For the sake of future
generations we must consider setting aside resource revenue and
providing Albertans with an asset that will do much more for them
than depreciate or require maintenance, as would a building, a
bridge, or aroad.

The Alberta heritage savings trust fund was founded in 1976 as it
was determined by the government of that day that some amount of
oil revenue should be set aside for future generations. We have
profited greatly from the fisca prudence. The Alberta heritage
savingstrust fund has provided over $20 billion to scholarships and
research grants as well as to government programs and services.
This contribution is alegacy of the assets saved in the wealthy days
of the 1970s energy crisis when oil was more than $40 per barrel.
It is important to note that $40 is in nomina terms; inflation
adjusted, wewould belooking at $180 abarrel oil intoday’ sdollars.

3:50

Although oil is not nearly as valuable today, we again find
ourselvesflush with resourcerevenue. Clearly thisisbecause of the
fiscal discretion of this government, but in any case, a standard and
stable mechanism of returning resource royalties back to their
rightful owners, Albertans, isthe next logical step.

There are many benefits to a prosperity dividend, and | think it's
extremely important that the government consider the Alaska
permanent fund as amodel of investing surplus revenue. Through
apermanent fund we would be investing in the infrastructure of the
future and in the lives of future generations of Albertans. Revenue
must be spent very wisely indeed, or wewill be abandoning thetrust
which Albertans havein us. | would submit, Mr. Speaker, that itis
possibl e through a permanent fund to both reduce taxes and provide
adividend to all Albertansin a sustainable fashion.

| support thecommitment we have shownin promoting thegrowth
of the provincial economy through lowering personal and corporate
incometax. These actions have brought new investment as well as
new talent into the province. However, Mr. Spesker, investment
into the economy of today should be balanced with consideration for
the future. The Alaska fund model would provide a sustainable
solution and ensurethat our surplusin futureyearsisnot squandered
on spending that is not cost-effective.

| certainly want to leave a legacy to my grandchildren and their
grandchildren, as everyone would like to leave a legacy to their
grandchildren and to their grandchildren. Whileour governmentsin
this country and abroad are burdening their future generations
through deficit budgeting, | would propose that this government do
the very opposite. Setting aside resource revenue into a fund that
will work for Albertans and not fade away would establish alegacy
for al the people of Albertato take great pride of ownershipin. |
know that it is an initiative that Albertanswill fully support.

Albertaisaleading economy in Canadaand al of North America
and has grown at a pace of 4.6 percent per year over the past five

years. This growth is truly staggering. If we can maintain our
growth on averageat just 4 percent per year, the size of our economy
will doublein 18 years. If the prices of gasand ail stay high, itisa
strong possibility that the size of our economy will doubleinjust 15
years. With such outstanding prospects for continued prosperity in
Albertawe should form asound and responsible way to manage our
surplus revenues after we retire our debt.

The strongest point in favour of a permanent dividend fund for
Alberta is that it allows us to take our time in evaluating the
direction of the province. Instead of spending excess revenue just
because it's there, we can save the money until a time when it is
needed. This government has held the firm policy that spending
should not be for the sake of itself but rather to answer an express
need. A dividend fund would be a method of saving unexpected
revenue for the future, providing income to the province for
programs and services, and then providing resource dividends to
Albertans.

The Alaskapermanent fund does have some drawbacks, and these
should be considered if Alberta is going to construct a similar
dividend fund. Motion 504 does not proposethat weinvestigate the
possibility of creating an exact duplicate of the Alaskan model but
that we create a made-in-Alberta solution to manage our prosperity.
Mr. Spesker, what | am suggesting is that we establish a dividend
fund so that we can manage Alberta's growth and prosperity with
stability and a greater degree of predictability.

In closing, | want to say that resources will run out. They are by
definition nonrenewable. Motion 504 proposes that we at least
consider the possibility that a portion of our current revenues be
converted into assetsthat arerenewableand will continueto provide
the province with prosperity for many years to come.

| urge everyonein this Assembly to support Motion 504.

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-
Ellerdie.

MS CARLSON: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. | takethis opportunity to
speak to thismotion, an Albertafiscal dividend program. | listened
intently to what the sponsor of the motion had to say and was quite
interested to see that he brought forward a motion that is a sit-on-
the-fence motion, and he supported that with hisremarks. What this
motion does is simply “urge the government to investigate the
possibility of creating.” 1t doesn’t actually advocate or push for one.

In the first part of his comments he talked about pushing for a
model likethe Alaskamodel, but in the last half of his comments he
stated that he a so wanted to support lower taxes. I1t'salittle tough
to have both, Mr. Speaker, so it would be nice to know exactly
where this member sits on thisissue.

Of course, the mgjor downfall with the Alaskamodel isthat with
dwindling oil revenues, the amount of the dividend gets reduced.
When we take alook at Alberta, where dwindling oil revenues are
also the case, then we see apotential problem in terms of cash flow.
Certainly we support any possibility of how we can better manage
our funds and resources, and we' ve brought forward some options
here.

It's our position that if the Alberta heritage savings trust fund
were bolstered with excess oil and gas revenues and not dividended
out at thistime and not syphoned off into general revenue funds, as
it's currently being done, if we built that fund up to about $30
billion, which wouldn’t take very much time at the current rate of
production, then we would be in aposition where wetruly could do
what this member says he wants, which is to protect future genera-
tions. That would be by completely eliminating personal incometax
in this province. Y ou can build the fund up to an amount of money
wheretheinterest revenue off that could go into the general revenue
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fund, and we could completely eliminate personal taxes, which is
really the best stimulator to the economy and the best rebate back to
Albertans, not for just this generation and the next one but for many
decades to come. The best way to do that is to immediately stop
syphoning funds off the heritage savings trust fund, to not go to any
kind of a dividend plan but to take the surplus revenues we have,
while we have them, and build that fund up.

Mr. Speaker, with those comments we will not be supporting this
motion.

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-
Rutherford.

MR. McCLELLAND: Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker. How
many people and how many Legislaturesin theworld would love to
be debating something like this? | mean, can you imagine? It's not
every day that Legidatures are debating: what do we do when we've
got our debt paid off? How do we go about investing or divesting
ourselves of the excess fundsin our Treasury without creating some
of the problemsthat peoplewith excessfundsarebound to have, like
jealousy, like overheating local markets, like overspending, setting
up alegacy of spending that can’t be sustained? We all know that
sooner or later the well is going to run dry and we're not going to
have these windfall profits, which we have been blessed with
through some good management but mostly good luck. | think we
all recognize that.

Certainly, I'msurethe majority of themembersinthisLegislature
recognizethe fact that we have aresponsibility to future generations
and that we have to carefully consider the decisions that are made.
Althoughitisanice problemto have, it'sstill aproblem. When the
debt ispaid and when we have the opportunity to reinvest the profits
that come from our resource well, we're going to have to be very,
very careful, Mr. Speaker. We don’t want to create a honey pot
that's going to attract every fly in the world. We don’'t want to
create a honey pot that’s going to create and attract the enmity of
other levels of government that might be tempted to take their hands
from their pockets and put them in our pockets. [interjections] |
hear other members saying: who would do that? Well, | think the
who that would do that are probably located about 1,700 kilometres
east of here, and we would be wise to keep that in mind.

4:00

Part of the debate in the Future Summit is going to be: what dowe
do, and how do we reinvest our resources? As members know, the
Albertaheritage savingstrust fund, theanniversary of whichisbeing
celebrated this year, was our attempt in 1976 to address essentially
the same problem. The Alberta heritage savings trust fund, as |
recall, did provide for the Legislature to have afund that we could
put excess revenues into. It also, as members will recall, had the
very negative effect of making Alberta a target of other orders of
government. | think that probably led to the nationa energy
program, and it led to a real schism in the relationship between
Alberta and the central government. So we've got a difficult
management problem ahead of us, a nice management problem but
still adifficult management problem.

Theintent of thismotionisto say: well, if we' refortunate enough
to have these resources, the bulk of the money should be dispersed
to Albertans to be invested by Albertans individualy. | think
underlying that premise is the fact that most people assume that
individuals are able to invest or to utilize money more efficiently
and more effectively and more pragmatically than governments are
ableto do ontheir behalf. | think also underlying the premise of this
motion is that we philosophically —and when | say “we philosophi-

caly,” I'm speaking of those of us on this side of the House —
believe that government should have as little to do with managing
the economy as possible, and that includes managing the excess
resources, that we should give that responsibility to individual
citizens, who should be able to make those decisionswisely in their
own interest, understanding that agood portion of it aswell staysin
the common pot for the common good down the road.

It's a combination of trying to get the best of both worlds and at
the same time not having a situation where we in Alberta are
disproportionately better off than other Canadians, which then could
have the potential to create divisions and enmity, that we just don’t
want to see and don’t want to see again. So the underlying premise
of thismotion | think is very laudable, and | would recommend that
othersjoin in this debate to give their considered opinion asto how
and what we should do with this resource wealth that we' re blessed
with.

The Future Summit to begin next fal certainly is going to centre
on thisissue, but we don’t want to get to the Future Summit without
having given some thought to aposition to bring to thetable. To my
knowledgethisisthefirst rea effort that has been madeto deal with
the resource revenue that will be available to Albertans and to
governments of Alberta after the debt has been paid off.

Now, the motion as presented is:

Beit resolved that the Legislative Assembly urge the government to

investigate the possibility of creating a prosperity dividend payable

to al Albertaresidents that is similar to the Alaska permanent fund

dividend program.
Alaska's permanent fund dividend has had some comment here
already today, and there are pros and consto that fund. Over thelast
25 yearsor so that it has been in effect we' ve had the opportunity to
learn from what they have done right and what perhaps what they
have donewrong. | would liketo move an amendment to the motion
so asto make it less closely attached to the Alaska permanent fund
dividend. So, Mr. Speaker, I'd like to make the following amend-
ment.

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER: Do we have copies?

MR. McCLELLAND: | havethe amendment, but wedo not yet have
the copies. Just asecond. I'll ask the page to make copies. Mr.
Speaker, may | have your guidance on this. We need five copies?

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER: We theoretically need 83 and then five
for the office, including the original signed one. Normally if you
had enough to give everyone acopy, that would be okay, but we still
need five for the table, including the original signed one.

MR. McCLELLAND: All right.

Mr. Speaker, your guidance again. So | sign the amendment, get
the copies made and distribute the signed copies, and then give the
chair the original. Isthat correct?

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER: Essentially. When | say signed, it’ s not
only the mover that signed it, but also Parliamentary Counsel has
signed it, presumably.

MR. McCLELLAND: Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker. |
appreciate your bearing with me here.

WE' I| make theamendment as soon aswe get the necessary copies
to distribute, which does, then, give me abit more timeto extol the
virtues of this very timely and worthy private member’s motion.

For those that are listening in on the web, | do want to draw the
distinction between a private member's motion and a private
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member’s bill. A motion doesn’t hold the government to a specific
course of action, and that’ swhat thisis. 1t'samotion which merely
asks the government to consider. Once the provincial debt is
eliminated, if oil and gas prices remain high, there could be an
opportunity to return aportion of resource revenue to Albertans. A
dividend fund similar to the Alaska permanent fund would allow
Albertato invest surplus resource revenue and distribute the fund’s
earnings to Albertans in times of high and low resource prices and
production.

| point out that it is our intention to move an amendment to strike
out that which indicates that it would be similar to the Alaska
permanent fund. Just for further clarification, all wewant to doisto
get the debate on the floor.

In recent years Alberta’ s provincial debt has been substantially
reduced by applying larger than expected oil and gas revenues. In
the 1998-1999 fiscal year the government surplus equaled $1.103
billion, and in the 1999-2000 fisca year the government surplus
equaled $2.802 hillion. The record debt repayment of $4.5 billion
in 2000-2001 reduced the debt to $8 billion. That’ sthe accumul ated
debt, and coincidentally the $8 billion is the approximate val ue of
this year's projected surplus, which provides the possibility of
Alberta being debt free by the beginning of the 2002 fiscal year.

4:10

There are, of course, considerations on the other side of thetable,
because there are those who feel that it may not be best to establish
a fund such as this. It may not be in the best interests of the
province, especidly if it were modeled exactly after the Alaska
permanent fund, because the Alaska permanent fund isinflexible, as
earnings from the fund can only be used for dividend payments. It
can’'t be drawn down to finance expenditures on peopl€'s priority
programs like health care or education. [interjection] Well, we just
can't doit. Wewant more flexibility.

Investing Albertans' money on their behalf for future consider-
ation distorts the free market economy, and it takes away individu-
as' rights to manage their finances and risk.

I’ ve been informed that the amendments are here. They're being
distributed. 1'll need one to move the amendment, so I'll just wait
until it gets distributed to me.

The strength, of course, isthat by creating a prosperity dividend
fund now while resource revenues are high, as is assumed under
Motion 504, that would supply Albertans direct and lasting benefit
independent of future resource prices. Motion 504 would maximize
thevalue of Alberta’ s resource revenuesthrough prudent long-term
investment and produce income to the benefit of all generations of
Albertans. A savingsfund actsasahedge against the boom and bust
cycle of the energy industry.

So theseareall considerationsthat need to be brought to the table,
need to be considered, and thiscertainly istheforumto do so so that
when we arrive at the growth summit, we will have a firm founda-
tion in this area from which to proceed.

So, Mr. Speaker, now, hopefully, we' ve done this correctly, and
I move the following amendment, that the original motion be
amended, the original motion which reads:

Beit resolved that the Legisative Assembly urge the government to
investigate the possibility of creating a prosperity dividend payable
to all Albertaresidents that is similar to the Alaska permanent fund
dividend program.
| move that that motion be amended by striking out all of the words
that follow “Alberta residents,” being “that is similar to Alaska's
permanent fund dividend.”

Mr. Speaker, | will seek the guidance of the chair onceagain. The
notice of amendment which has been circulated includes the words
“that is,” and the amendment was to strike out the words following

“Albertaresidents’ but don’t include “that is.” So | would ask the
advice of the chair.

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER: The advice of the chair would bethat if
that’s your intent in your motion, “that is similar to the Alaska” is
removed there, and what you have at the end of the present Motion
504 is“to all Albertaresidents.”

MR. McCLELLAND: Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker. All
right. Sothen | have made that motion, and with that, | wouldinvite
othersto join the debate on the amendment.

[Motion Other than Government Motion 504 as amended carried]

THE CLERK: Motions Other than Government Motions. Motion
505. Mr. Herard.

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER: Is the Assembly willing to give
unanimous consent to move to the next item of business?

[Unanimous consent denied]

Palliative Care

506. MsKryczka moved:

Beit resolved that the Legislative Assembly urge the govern-
ment to identify palliative care as a core service in each
regional health authority to ensure the availability of a co-
ordinated continuum of care and support services for end-of-
life care with access to palliative community services (pallia-
tive home and hospice care), acute care, consultation services
for physicians, staff, and patients, and tertiary care.

THE DEPUTY SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Calgary-West.

MSKRYCZKA: Yes, Mr. Speaker. I'mvery pleased to speak today
to my motion on paliative care. As | don’'t have any formal
documentation in front of me, | will do my best to speak to thetopic.
Actually, in preparation for this motion, which has been described
by aboard member from one of theregional health authorities as not
being asexy topic, such as cardiovascular surgery is, | would liketo
start off my speech today by saying that we should all be interested
in palliative care because we will all die. Not al of us will be
impacted by heart problems, but end-of-life issues are what this
motion is all about and the role of the Alberta government in this
issue.

I’m very proud to say that in the health care system that we have
today, we've certainly given due attention to beginning-of-life
issues, and that is very important. This government hasand is very
recently addressing the need for proper continuum of care for the
aging population, and that is certainly not an easy task. | feel that
since l’ve been in the Legidature, since 1997, definite progress has
been made, but | think that what we really haveto keep in mind with
many decisions that government makes now and in the futureisthe
fact that we do have an aging population.

4:20

Theimplications of an aging population are many. To start with,
we know that the numbers are going to increase. For people who
like to work with numbers and facts, | would like you to just focus
for amoment on thefact that 10 percent of Alberta’ spopul ation now
are seniors, and in 20 to 30 yearsit’'ll be anywhere from 20 to 25
percent of our population. That is very much of a significant
increase.
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For me and the work | have been doing and | hope will continue
to do certainly in this term, it will be to urge the government to
move in the direction of accommodating so many more seniorsin
thefuture. | think that if we definitely take the position of planning
toward the future, there will be some things happening in this next
termand, | hope, in futuretermsthat will advance usso we areready
when, for instance, 20 to 25 percent of our population are seniors.

It is easy for us to put off today and say: well, you know, that's
tomorrow. | mean, we do that in our lives al the time; right?
Procrastination is easy to do, and thisisnot really staring us hard in
the face today. But, | will recall, for instance, 10 years ago — | can
hardly believeit was 10 years ago —when | met my present husband.

[Mr. Shariff in the chair]
MR. KLAPSTEIN: You're lucky you remember.

MSKRY CZKA: Yes, and | amlucky that | do remember those days.
My time may come when | may not remember those days.

MR. KLAPSTEIN: Well, then you'll need palliative care.

MS KRY CZKA: The hon. Member for Leduc is trying to suggest
that I'll need palliative care, but | hope that | will have many more
years of remembering and healthy living beforel will need palliative
care. Now | must be serious about thistopic because my messageis
really avery serious one.

In thetimethat | have, | would like to really summarize what my
research has found to date. Actualy, paliative care has been
addressed and defined as a core service back to 1993 in the Depart-
ment of Health and Wellness. | would urge the minister, though, to
actively support the government taking the leadership role in what
is aready evolving in the province as core service but to embellish
thedefinition of what core servicereally means, an activedefinition,
an updated one. Although the document that | did read back in 1993
is an excellent document — and many people from regional health
authorities agree that it is— my suggestion would be that thisis not
really a today, living document, since we have really defined the
urgency of looking after our aging population especially into their
longer, frailer years.

What I'm going to try and describe to you as best | can iswhat |
have found in my active research with regional health authorities.
Thelarger regiona health authorities, meaning the Calgary regiona
health authority and Capital health authority — and there are others
that are smaller — are really to be commended for playing within
each region a leadership role in envisioning what palliative care
lookslike. They are moving in adirection, and they have got what
I would like to repeat isavision. The smaller regions actualy are
coming aboard and being part of thisvision, but if you liveinarural
community and you find that geographicaly your hedth care
resources are very sparse, the vision has to be more than just
regional, and there has to be a team approach.

Definitely one of the key pluses in doing research is that the
regional health authorities are talking to each other in this whole
areaof palliative care, and there are certain level s of agreement. We
talk about team work, and again I’ m pleased to see that it’s happen-
ing. | thought therewas more of perhapsaterritorialism that existed
between the regional health authorities but certainly not evidenced
at al inthisarea

With the movement to community care, we know that people are
definitely saying that they want to age in place, in their own home,
whether that be ahouse on aresidential street or it bein along-term
care centre or it may be anything in between in terms of types of

living models. Actually, more and more people are saying they
really would prefer not to spend their remaining timein along-term
care facility. They want to be at home with caregivers, with home
care support, but it’s not as easy to implement these wishes.

So what’ shappening, as| found out, if | wereto quote from either
Edmonton or Calgary regional health authorities: thereisarea team
situation that exists where there are many specialiststhat aretrained
in geriatric care, and their job isto go out and first of al train and
then offer support to GPs that are out at the community level, to
nurses at that level, to families. So it's really more of a holistic
direction that we're headed into. | guesswhat | would say isthat |
would have to give them a huge amount of credit for the work they
have done to date. I've said they have avision. They have agoal.
It is not only these two large authorities that have taken the initia-
tive.

[Mr. Speaker in the chair]

In away it's an easy job for government to just come in and
acknowledge what is there, but we need to work with them saying:
you know, as government we support this. Maybe in terms of
dollars they will come ultimately and ask for support, but | don’t
think that isreally all that isnecessary. | think acknowledgment first
of al of what is happening. That can happen through individual
MLAs; that can happen through the minister of health. | would look
first to the minister of health to become more involved and knowl-
edgeable in what isgoing on. As| said earlier a the beginning of
my comments today, itisnot . . .

THE SPEAKER: Excuse me, hon. member. | hate to interrupt, but
the time allocation for this matter of business has now |eft us.

4:30
head: Government Billsand Orders
Second Reading
Bill 8

Alberta Corporate Tax Amendment Act, 2001
THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Rutherford.

MR. McCLELLAND: Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker. | rise
today to move second reading of Bill 8, the Alberta Corporate Tax
Amendment Act, 2001.

Thisbill implements reductionsto corporateincome tax rates and
the elimination of the capital tax on financia institutions as an-
nounced last fall in response to recommendations made by the
Alberta Business Tax Review Committee. These are the first steps
inthisgovernment’ saggressive businesstax reduction plan. Thebill
also incorporates the amendments contained in Bill 22, which was
introduced into the Legislature last year but not passed, and some
technical amendments resulting from changes made to the federal
Income Tax Act.

The specific changesto corporate income tax rates effective April
1, 2001, arethat the general rateisreduced from 15.5 percent to 13.5
percent, the manufacturing and processing rate is reduced from 14.5
to 13.5 percent, the small businessrate is reduced to 5 percent, the
amount of income eligible for the smal business deduction is
increased from $200,000 to $300,000, the capital tax on financial
institutions is eliminated, and the capita taxes paid to other prov-
inces are not deductible for taxation years beginning after April 1,
2001. The business tax plan also announced further tax reduction
steps. These will be implemented in future years in future bills,
based on affordability.

The main components of amendments introduced as Bill 22 last
year and being reintroduced in thisbill are the introduction of rules
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to prevent tax avoidance transactions, some el aborate scheme called
the Quebec shuffle, and again amendments which result from
paralleling changes made to the federal act, which we generally try
to keepin sync with, acourse of action which benefitstaxpayersand
our tax administration by keeping things as simple as taxes can be
kept simple.

Planned amendmentstothe Albertaroyalty tax credit program, the
ARTC program, will not proceed at thistime. | will be bringing in
an amendment during Committee of the Whole to address this.

Finally, there are a number of sections meant to close a tax
avoidance loophole. The loophole results from the ability to elect
differing amounts for Alberta, Ontario, Quebec, and federal tax
purposes becausethethree provinces administer their own corporate
income tax. The scheme is quite complex but basically involves
using relieving provisions intended to permit a tax deferra to
completely eliminate provincial capital gains tax. Ontario and
Quebec have fixed their legislation, and we' re now doing ours.

Again, Mr. Speaker, this bill is mostly about cutting corporate
taxes. When our plan is fully implemented, businesses large and
small will pay about half thetax they do today. | see membersof the
New Democratic and the Liberal parties raising their armsin glee.

MS CARLSON: No.

MR. McCLELLAND: That is not glee? That isangst? I'm sorry.
| thought it was glee.

Bill 8 will help ensure Alberta businesses remain in a strong
position not only nationally but also on the world stage. Making it
easier for businesses to invest and operate in the province helps
strengthen our economy, create jobs, and make Alberta attractive to
outside investors.

Thank you, Mr. Speaker.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Ellerdlie.

MS CARLSON: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Happy to have achance
to respond at second reading to Bill 8, the Alberta Corporate Tax
Amendment Act, 2001. In general, we support this particular bill.
It looksto melike mostly housekeeping, bringing in linerecommen-
dations made by the Alberta Tax Review Committee, the Alberta
royalty tax credit program. We see some issues related to the tax-
deferred disposition of property, eliminating capital tax, and
paraleling some amendments with federal legislation.

We do have a few concerns, so we'd like to put those on the
record. Hopefully, we can get the questions answered when it gets
to committee so that we can see afairly speedy passage of this bill.

We believe that in general right now corporate tax rates and the
manufacturing and processing rate are competitive with other
provinces. We fed that it's more important for the business sector
at this time to stabilize electricity and natural gas prices in the
province so that businesses can operate profitably. Therearelots of
waysto ensure profitability that have nothing to do with tax cuts, as
small businesses who often don’t make any money know very well.
They would liketo have the opportunity to sharein tax cuts, but first
they have to be profitable, and increased electricity and natural gas
prices are eating into those profits considerably. So we're seeing
with thisadecreasein taxeson the corporate side but on the personal
side a shifting of more of the tax burden onto middle-income
Albertans through the flat-tax scheme and aso through user-fee
charges. We continue to be concerned about those.

We support the decision to reduce the small business tax from 6
to ultimately 3 percent. It's been our position for many years.
We'vecalled for that reduction since 1994. Infact, it was one of the

very first policiesthat | worked on and asked to have implemented.
It' staken this government over six yearsto act on our recommenda-
tion, but they did act on it, so we would like to thank them for that,
Mr. Speaker. According to the CFIB, of the people employed in
Alberta during 1998, 74 percent of businesses employed less than
five people. So small businesses are abig deal, and we' re happy to
see some support for them.

Intermsof thelegislation that parallelschangesto the Income Tax
Act as set out under federal bills C-28 and C-72 with respect to the
transfer pricing and the cost of tax shelter investments, the assess-
ment and reassessment, and penalties there, it's good to see those
parallel changes are going to be made.

We seehereinthislegisiation that loopholesare closed that allow
corporations to avoid paying provincial taxes by transferring assets
to another province before disposing of the property. | think that’s
asmall issue, but it's been a pretty significant loophole, so we're
happy to see that happen.

Changesto the ARTC program result certainly in amore focused
and effective program targeted at small and medium-sized produc-
ers. We' ve been astrong supporter of the ARTC because werealize
that it offers significant tax policy stability to many sectors, to the
energy sector, particularly small producers, so that’s good. But we
would like the minister to explain how these changesto the ARTC
as outlined in Bill 8 will assist in addressing the concerns of the
Auditor Genera about the government’s failure to state specific
goals, expected results, and the development of performance
measuresto evaluatethe ARTC. Soif they could addressthat. That
would be the AG’ s report '91-92, pages 32 to 33.

We think that one way to measure the effectiveness would be to
tiethecredit to thelevel of reinvestment. Perhapstheminister could
indicate whether the department’ saudit functions have the ability to
do this. | think that's an excellent question that would be well
addressed in committee.

We've asked for studies conducted on behaf of the government
relativetothe ARTC’ simpact on job creation and increased drilling
activity. Perhapsthe minister would now bewilling to release those
studies that benchmark the effectiveness of the ARTC.

We' ve been supportersforever of greater co-ordinationinthearea
of tax collection in order to reduce the paperwork burden on the
private sector and the elimination of duplication and overlap in the
area of tax administration. Bill 8 goes some way in doing this. It's
designed to reflect this objective with the federal amendments. We
were not supporters of the province collecting their own tax and
having separate tax returns there. We continue to reflect those
concerns. Streamlining is a big deal, and cutting down on paper-
work for a small business is also a very big deal, so we'd like to
have that once again put on the record. | think we'd also like to
know if the minister could indicate whether there are any plans to
further harmonize the collection of corporate taxes as a means of
reducing the compliance costs for industry.

With those questions, Mr. Speaker, we will rest our concerns on
second reading.

4:40
THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Highlands.

MR. MASON: Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker. I'm pleased to
rise to speak to Bill 8, which makes a number of changes to the
corporate income tax regime in this province. Some of these
changes are those that we can support, and others are those that we
must oppose.

Thefirst changethat issupported by the New Democratsinvolves
areduction in the tax rate of small businessesand an increasein the
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threshold at which businesses qualify for the small business rate.
Thefirst installment of athree-year plan to reducethe small business
tax rate from 6 to 3 percent and to double the income threshold
qualifying for the small businesstax rate from $200,000 to $400,000
is something that we think may have a positive impact on small
businesses.

We're pleased to support small businessin thisprovince. Weare
quite aware of the role of small business in the creation of jobsin
thisprovince. Most jobsthat are created in this province are created
by small business, and they al so provide a means of making aliving
for a very significant number of Albertans who are the owners of
small businesses. We think that these changes will be particularly
helpful to smaller start-up businesses. The threshold to qualify for
the lower rate has not been increased for many years, and even with
the increase proposed, it's not at what we would consider areason-
ablelevel.

There are some troubling aspects of the hill, to be sure, and those
involve the major corporate tax changes which are being sought
through Bill 8. It looks like the New Democrats will be the only
party at this stage opposing thisdirection, and | think that’ stoo bad.
The government is proposing in this act a reduction on profitable
large corporations from the current 15 and a half percent to 8
percent, virtually cutting their taxes in haf. | know that's being
cheered on the opposite side, but we wonder if the government has
actually done any detailed evaluation of thisin terms of what it will
producein terms of new investment, what it will producein terms of
new jobs, and what it will do to the province's financesin the long
term, particularly if resource revenues do not remain at the same
levels they are today.

We are concerned that the government issignificantly eroding the
tax base with which it has to meet the needs of Albertans, and
they're doing so at atime of fiscal euphoria caused by high prices
for natural gas.

MR. NORRIS: Caused by good management. Caused by outstand-
ing management.

MR. MASON: Well, the hon. minister over there would like to teke
credit for the high oil prices that exist in this province. He would
like to take credit for the high natural gas pricesin this provincein
the same way that previous governments believed that the oil and
gas was put in the ground for the benefit of Socia Credit. Well, it
just isn’t so, Mr. Speaker. It's easy to be good managers in these
kinds of conditions, and the government has not shown that they are
good managers of the. . .

Speaker’s Ruling
Decorum

THE SPEAKER: Hon. members, right now recognized for participa-
tion in the Assembly is the hon. Member for Edmonton-Highlands.
I would only be too happy to cal on other hon. membersto partici-
pateoncethehon. M‘ ember for Edmonton-Highlandshas concluded
hisremarks. So | look forward to along speaking list.

Debate Continued

MR. MASON: Thank you very much, Mr. Spesker. You know, |
know that my views don’t accord with the hon. minister’s. We've
seen that. Nevertheless, my views do represent the view of a
number of Albertans, and | appreciate the opportunity to put them
forward here. The difficulty isthat if the high energy prices are not
sustained, this province could find itself in the unenviable situation
of having to continue with its planned deep cuts in corporate taxes

and to make up the shortfall by increasing personal taxes or to cut
spending further on important programs.

Corporations will benefit immensely from a healthy and well-
educated workforce as well as from spending on public infrastruc-
ture like roads and highways. Asking them to pay their fair share
towards sustaining these important programs is only fair and
reasonable.

My fina concern about Bill 8 involves the changes made to the
Alberta royalty tax credit program. While a government news
releaseissued uponfirst reading of Bill 8 claimsthat it isimplement-
ing the recommendations of the Albertabusinesstax review, it’ s not
really accurate when it comesto the royalty tax credit program. The
Business Tax Review Committee recommended that the royalty tax
credit program be phased out. It doesn’'t involve the kind of
tinkering around the edges that is being done through Bill 8.

The Business Tax Review Committee quite rightly pointsout that
theroyalty tax credit isaselective program and provides benefits to
a specific industry, conventional oil and gas production. The
program runs counter to the genera approach of supporting broad-
based low tax rates for al industries rather than targeted tax credits
or other forms of government assi stance: these aren’t my words, Mr.
Speaker. They' rethewordsof the Business Tax Review Committee,
which was commissioned by this government.

At atime of record high oil and gas prices there can no longer be
any justification for keeping this corporate welfare holdover from
the 1980s on the books. Let’ssimplify the corporate tax system and
axe theroyalty tax credit. On balance the changes to the corporate
tax system contained, in our view, more bad elements than good
elements. That's why the New Democrat opposition will not be
supporting thishill at second reading. Webelievethat thelong-term
interests of the province are not served by massive tax cuts for the
weslthiest corporations in this province.

Thank you, Mr. Speaker.

[Motion carried; Bill 8 read a second time]

Bill 11
Employment Standards Amendment Act, 2001

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Red Deer-North.

MRS. JABLONSKI: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. It is my great
pleasure and honour to move second reading of Bill 11, the Employ-
ment Standards Amendment Act, 2001, on behalf of my colleague
the Minister of Human Resources and Employment.

On February 7, 2001, the maternity and parental |eave regulation
came into force. It provides parents whose children were born or
adopted on or after December 31, 2000, with up to one year of job-
protected leave from the workplace. For many Albertafamiliesthis
wasgreat news. These changeswere done by regulation becausethe
government wanted to ensure that parents could inform their
employers that they intended to access the new federal employment
insurance benefits that a'so came into effect on December 31, 2000.

Mr. Speaker, Bill 11 does one thing and one thing only. It
transfers Alberta’ s maternity and parental leave provisions from a
regulation into the Employment Standards Code. Right now if
Albertanslook at the Employment Standards Codefor the province' s
maternity and parental leave provisions, they cannot find them.
Including these provisionsin the codewill giveall Albertans greater
clarity and assurance that their rights in the workplace are being
protected.

Mr. Speaker, | would like to share with the Assembly some of the
work that went into developing the maternity and parental leave
regulation. Last December the minister struck a committee to
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consult with Albertaemployers, employees, unions, social advocacy
groups, and parents. The committee heard from over 5,000 Alber-
tans and held a one-day symposium before developing the eight
recommendations designed to strike a balance between meeting the
needs of families and meeting the needs of Alberta semployers. All
of the committee’ s recommendations were accepted by the govern-
ment and form the basis of the maternity and parental leave regula
tion and will now be enshrined in legislation through Bill 11.

4:50

Mr. Speaker, Bill 11 gives parents up to 37 weeks of parental
leave. For birth mothers this means they are able to take up to 52
weeks of unpaid |eave fromwork, made up of 15 weeks of maternity
leave and up to 37 weeks of parental leave. Fathers may now share
in parental leave. The 37 weeks of leave may be taken entirely by
one of the parents or shared between them. Adoptive parents can
aso take up to 37 weeks of parental leave. Adoptive parents can
take parental leave regardless of the age of their adopted child. This
changerecognizesthat adopted children, whether they are newborns
or school aged, need time to bond with their parents.

Maternity leave can begin at any time within 12 weeks of the
estimated date of delivery. Parental |eave can begin at any time after
the birth or adoption of the child and must be completed within 52
weeks of that date.

Mr. Speaker, thegovernment recognizesthat these extended |l eave
provisions present achallenge for employersin termsof finding and
training replacement workers. Bill 11 contains the strictest notice
requirements in the country for employees going on and returning
from maternity or parental leave. Thiswill give employersthetime
they need to recruit and train replacement workers.

The changes to notice regquirements are significant for two
reasons. First, they extend the amount of notice an employee must
provide before taking employment leave. Second, they spell out
clear consequences should an employee not provide the required
amount of notice.

Employees going on maternity or parental leave must give their
employers six weeks' notice, up from the previous two-week notice
period. Birth mothers who are unable to give the required notice
will still have to provide amedical certificate within two weeks of
stopping work. Parents who are unable to give the required notice
for medical or custodial reasonswill have to provide written notice
as soon as possible. Employees now have to provide at least four
weeks' written notice to their employers to either return to work or
change their return date, and employees are required to provide at
least four weeks' written notice if they do not intend to return to
work when their leave ends. These provisions give employers
greater certainty in scheduling necessary staffing changes, and
employers are under no obligation to reinstate an employee who
does not provide the required notice to return to work.

Employees, whether they are full-time or part-time, must have
worked for their employersfor 52 continuous weeks before they are
eligible for this maternity and/or parental leave provision.

Bill 11 gives legidative force to the province's maternity and
parentd leave regulation and further demonstrates our commitment
to working parentsand our children. Itisan honour to move second
reading of Bill 11. | encourageall membersto join mein supporting
thisbill.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Centre.

MS BLAKEMAN: Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker. Well, |
thought I’d seen it al, but | haven’t been in this House long enough
| guess. We' renow moving legislationto verify regulations. | never
thought I’ d see the day.

MS CARLSON: They're going to repeat it again in Bill 14.

MS BLAKEMAN: | guess so.

The member started with the reminder that in February of this
year in fact the government of Alberta had announced aregulation
that was extending unpaid maternity or parental leave from its
position of 18 weeks, and Mr. Speaker, such backslapping, such self-
congratulation. | can hear the popping of champagne corks, and |
can just imagine in my mind’s eye the blue and pink streamers
cascading from the ceiling. Such excitement everyone has over this
bill.

AN HON. MEMBER: Blue and orange.

MSBLAKEMAN: Blue and pink. Oh, blue and orange. | suppose
that would be more.. . . yeah, yeah. Okay.

| think: well, my goodness, all this over something that Albertais
one of the last two provincesto do. My goodness, what would it be
likeif they were actually aleader in this? Boy, that would really be
aparty.

Infact, after thefederal government increased their parental leave
to 50 weeks at the end of 2000, all of the other provinces except for
Alberta and Saskatchewan came aong right away quick, but we did
manage to get aregulation out of Albertain February. Now in May
we're all warm and fuzzy because we're getting around to passing
the legislation that reaffirms the regulation. But it’s niceto seethis
happen.

Soisthisagood bill? Yes, of course. | mean, lots of people have
given input. We've heard lots from this government about how
important it isto keep familiestogether. Yes, indeed. Do | support
this? Of coursel do. | would have supported it if the government
had done it six months ago, when they should have done it, when it
really would have been leadership, rather than late and behind
everyone else, but I’'m happy to support it now.

One of the things that is curious to me, though, is why the
government continues to discriminate, to differentiate between
different kinds of parents and between the genders. As we move
towards understanding that we want both parents to be equaly
involved, barring the actual physical necessity involved in some of
this, we wanted parental |eave to be available in an equal number of
weeks, and that’s not what's happening here. In fact, the pregnant
employee could qualify for 52 weeks because they’ re getting the 15
weeks of, strictly speaking, maternity leave plus the 37 of parental
leave. In the case of the nonpregnant parent they only get 37
consecutive weeks within 52 weeks of the child’ sbirth. Why aren’t
we being a bit more equal about this?

Worse, | think, isonly 37 weeks for adoptive parents, and that is
too bad, because once again, we're making a difference here. Ata
time when we need to be moving towards an understanding that
parenting is parenting, that we're not distinguishing between birth
children and adoptive children, what does this government do?
Yuck. It takes one huge giant leap backwards about two decades.

Well, | still have hope. Thelegislation is being brought forward,
but | really had hoped that the government was abl e to move beyond
this distinguishing and doling out of different amounts of time to
people. | would have thought that they could have moved beyond
that, but that’ s not the case. [interjection] Well, probably. There's
a suggestion that there might be an amendment through miscella-
neous statutesin the next session. I'd certainly bewilling to look at
that if it came forward. 1'd bein support of that then becauseI’'min
support of it now, and | would have been in support of it six months
ago. Nonetheless, the government has actually come through in
verifying their regulation with legislation.
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Y ou know, | thought when | got elected that the legislation came
first and then theregulationsfell underneath thelegislation. But no,
notin Alberta. InAlbertawe' regoing to do theregulationsfirst, and
then we' re going to pass the legidation for it. It truly isan Orwell-
ian experience here. We do have three bills drawn up that way.
We've got bills 1, 14, and 11. All three bills are sort of after-the-
fact, better get it in quick legislation.

So I’ m happy to support thishill. I'll certainly be encouraging by
colleagues to support this hill. 1t would be nice if we could see an
amendment brought forward that would straighten out some of the
discrimination. | don’t know why this government feelsit needsto
discriminate between people, but it realy seems to be a visceral
urge. Gotta, gotta make everybody different and treat them
different. But overall I'm glad to seethis.

There’ s been aprocess followed for this. Itinfact did start in the
fall session of 2000, brought forward as a private member’ shill. At
that time| spokein favour of it and thought it was going to pass, but
fall sessions in Alberta are very short lived. Boy, you've got to
really move those bills through, or bingo, two weeks and we' re out
of here, and it just didn't make it in the cut. [interjection] The
Minister of Finance is saying that life is tough, and that’s certainly
theway itisin the Alberta Legislature. Y ou've got to move fast or
you're out of here. Two weeks for afall session, three weeks for a
spring session. Boy, on we go.

5:00

Therewas consultation. Aninvitation for consultation wasissued
at the beginning of the year. There was consultation with anumber
of different labour groups, nonprofit agencies, government depart-
ments, and | think if you were really quick, members of the public
could have been involved with this as well.

Soit'safinething. Itstimeislong past. I'm glad to seeit, and
I’m more than willing to support it. | look forward to the further
debate. I'm sure there are many members of the government who
arejust raring to get up and debate on this. [interjection] Right, and
I’'m sure that’ s going to happen another day.

At this point, Mr. Speaker, | would like to adjourn debate.

[Motion to adjourn debate carried]

Bill 14
Alberta lncome Tax Amendment Act, 2001

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Minister of Finance.

MRS. NELSON: Thank you very much, Mr. Speaker. I’'m pleased
to rise today to move second reading of Bill 14, being the Alberta
Income Tax Amendment Act, 2001.

Mr. Speaker, this bill provides the legislative authority for the
Alberta energy tax refund and makes aminor technical change with
the foreign tax credit and the overseas employment tax credit.

TheAlbertaenergy tax refund programwas announced September
6, 2000, to help relieve the pressures of higher than normal energy
costs, including home heating costs and higher prices at the gas
pumps. Thisprogram was possi ble because of higher than expected
resource revenues, and it returns over $690 million to the pockets of
more than 2 million Albertans. Highlights of the bill related to the
energy tax refund includeestablishing programeligibility and refund
amounts, ensuring the refund meets the criteria of an overpayment
of provincial income tax so as not to be taxable at the federal level,
and establishing criteriato redirect money to creditors, in particular
in the case of maintenance enforcement debts. It also is ensuring
that the province can recover amounts paid to individuals who are
later found to beineligible.

Mr. Speaker, while this program was put in place while this
legislation was coming forward — it was introduced earlier — our
commitment as a government, however, is to deal with the reality
and make sure that we care for Albertans. Whilethishill is coming
after the fact, it is still an important element.

The technical component of the amendment, Mr. Speaker, will
ensure that Albertans who worked overseas in the year 2000 and
earlier yearsareeligibleto claim the overseas employment tax credit
and the foreign tax credit. This change will ensure that affected
Albertans receive that full benefit, as was aways intended. This
deficiency was rectified for the year 2001 and subsequent yearsin
the new Alberta Personal Income Tax Act.

Those arethevery basic principles of thebill, Mr. Speaker. | look
forward to debate but move second reading.

THE SPEAKER: The hon. Member for Edmonton-Ellerdie.

MS CARLSON: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. I’'m happy to have an
opportunity to speak to Bill 14 in second reading, the Alberta
Income Tax Amendment Act, 2001.

An interesting bill once again. Like my colleague from
Edmonton-Centre talked about, this is a bill where we see the
legislation coming before the Assembly after the regulations have
been put in place and in fact, in this case, after the money has been
spent.

Thisisacompanion hill, | think, to Bill 1, and it’san interesting
process and an interesting precedent that the government of this
province has established in thisparticular year. We heard somenice
motherhood and apple pie statements from the minister in introduc-
ing the bill, and that was a very clever way to talk about putting the
cart beforethe horse. We haveissueswith theway that that is done.
We dliketo seethelegislation brought forward inthe Assembly and
haveit debated, put out to Albertansfor review, and then come back
and be passed.

MRS. NELSON: Y eah, and then we would have frozen to death.

MS CARLSON: Well, the minister says that we could have frozen
to death. Mr. Spesker, in fact if the government had had the
foresight to see what was coming, which pretty well al of industry
and most Albertans did, they would have anticipated the issues and
I think been able to bring forward legislation in atimely fashion.
We certainly think that something needed to be done, no doubt, but
this wasn't something that happened overnight. We al saw it
coming, so it'stoo bad that it happened in the way it did.

We'll be supporting thisbill, Mr. Speaker. It'ssort of silly not to
when the money is already spent, but we have some points that we
feel areimportant to be made. 1’m happy to have the opportunity to
make them when we're speaking to the principle of bringing in
legislation that isreally shielding legislation and really is minor, of
atechnical nature.

Wethink that the $300 rebate under the Albertaenergy tax refund
program is helpful to Albertaconsumers as a onetime measure, Mr.
Speaker. It still was acrisis-based reaction by the government to the
impact of higher energy prices. Not rocket science to figure out
where prices were going and not rocket science to be able to figure
out what their participation wasin this. Soit’stoo bad they decided
to close the barn door after the horse had | eft.

Infact, it' sone step, but we want to know what the next steps are,
Mr. Speaker. Albertans really need aredlistic plan to shield them
from the sustained impact of energy prices over the medium term.
This was clearly designed to shield the government’ s mismanage-
ment of energy deregulation we think, not necessarily to shield
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Albertans from the impact of higher energy prices, and we've had
some of those discussions and debatesin Bill 1. Certainly they’'ve
been followed up through question period, the media has had ahold
of theissue, and |otsof peoplehave had lotsto say about it. It'snice
to know that the government did react fast enough to do some
damage control. That's a good step, but they shouldn’t be in a
position where when they have the information available to them,
damage control iswherewego. They should have had some process
in place for sustained shielding, which didn’t happen.

[Mr. Shariff in the chair]

We saw this government, Mr. Speaker, attempting to introduce a
long-term plan for providing Albertans with relief from the high
natural gas prices with the introduction of Bill 1, the Natural Gas
Price Protection Act, but this bill really was ablank cheque bill. 1t
had no details, certainly lacks substance, and leaves every major
decision regarding the government’s plan for price protection to
regulation.

So we're really no further ahead now than we were when the
government first introduced its energy rebates. We still don't see
any sustainable plans to shield the impact of energy prices, and
we're still in the dark in terms of what this government’ s plans are.
We're hoping that we see that. Maybe one of the reasons why the
government wants out of session so quickly this particular springis
so they' I have an opportunity, over what remains of the spring and
over the summer, to talk to Albertans and figure out where they’re
going and what kind of sustained shielding we can seein the future,
because once again it isn’t rocket science to figure out that prices
aren’'t coming down, Mr. Speaker. They’re going to be staying up
there very high in the medium term and certainly higher than what
we saw in the past in thelong term, so | think it'simportant that the
government talk about how we can be industry leadersin providing
low-cost energy sources to Albertans and to worldwide consumers,
hopefully, in the long run.

5:10

| think there are lots of options that we could be taking alook at,
lotsof devel opments happening on theresearch and technol ogy side.
Certainly there are options available in terms of solar power, wind
power. I'm not surethat energy cellsare going to be that productive
in the long run, but work is being done. One good idea leads to
another, and I’ m sure that we have some excellent solutions to this
problem on the near horizon. We need to see government support-
ing them in a substantive way. When they underwrite energy costs
like they have with this kind of a bill, they put up barriers to
supporting other aternatives and they put up barriers to existing
energy companies finding innovative new solutions and better ways
to deliver the product at lower costs.

So we're looking forward to seeing where the province is going
to go in terms of support on those kinds of issues, and certainly we
hope that there's going to be some good news coming up in the
future. Certainly there may be some outcomes out of the Future
Summit, that we' re going to seein thefall. We'll be ableto discuss
those, I’ m hoping, when weget into thefall sitting and talk about the
kind of direction that this government is going in.

But before that, it would be helpful to industry to have some
information on what kind of support they can see from this govern-
ment on alternate sources. Also, for consumers there are lots of
options that are very doable in the very short term and would be
quite accepted, certainly by the Official Opposition, for them to
move forward on. One of thoseisretrofits, Mr. Speaker. We could
certainly support the government in assisting individuals and

companies and organizations looking at retrofits of their existing
buildings to make them more energy efficient. That isn’'t an
alternative energy source, but it's certainly a short-term kind of
measure in terms of doing two things: lowering the cost to people
and business but also being more efficient in the way that we
consume energy. It's much more environmentally friendly to take
alook at that.

What are some of the ways that this government could take alook
at in terms of supporting retrofits? There are two that are being
widely talked about right now throughout the province. Oneof those
is providing grants to people up to a certain level to provide the
retrofits. | don’'t think that goes along very well with this govern-
ment’ s philosophy, although the payback to the government through
lower energy costs, lower consumption, and a greater spending
ability by taxpayerswould be significant and | think would be worth
looking at. It doesn’t seem to follow this particular government’s
philosophy, but what we could take alook at isloansto consumers
for retrofits that were tax free that the government could in fact set
up.
It would be a grest initiative for the new Minister of Economic
Development to take alook at becauseit would be agreat stimulant
to companies throughout the province who would provide the
servicesfor theretrofits. It would lower average coststo consumers
so they would have more disposable income to get out there and
spend, spend, spend, and it would be looked on very favourably by
people who were ableto accessthis. It providesareal incentivefor
lower income Albertans or middle-income Albertans to take alook
at something that they may think is not possible right now in terms
of costs. Evaluations for average retrofits for a bare, basic kind of
system are running somewhere around $1,500. More significant
ones average around $3,000, $4,500, up to $15,000, so out of the
realm of possibility for many families.

I would encouragethe Minister of Economic Devel opment to take
alook at that as an option, something that he could bring forward to
his cabinet meetings and really be seen as a leader and perhaps
develop aprotocol that other provinceswould bewilling to support.
So welook forward to further information on that and hope that we
can see some announcements coming forward prior to the fall
session.

Now, we have some concerns, Mr. Speaker, on how this govern-
ment shows a lack of respect for the legidative process when the
government introduces a bill authorizing a plan which they an-
nounced over eight months ago and have already finished imple-
menting. It'sthumbing their nose at the democratic system, andit's
aconcern for usin terms of the processthat this happened. It looks
like cheque cutting to cover up some of the bungling that happened
on electricity deregulation, and we have serious concerns about that.
We would like those to be addressed.

Yes, | hear the murmurs from the other side. It isn’t completely
the government’ sfault, Mr. Speaker, but certainly thereisan aspect
of this that has to do with the lack of planning that came in with
deregulation, and that responsibility falls solely on the shoulders of
this government. They need to fess up, own up to their responsibil-
ity inthisand tell Albertanswhat rolethey had. They had somerole
inthis. They're certainly not responsible for global prices. | never
indicated that they were, but certainly they have a responsibility to
anticipate where prices are going in a globa marketplace and do
what they can to provide other aternatives for Albertans. Interms
of the aspect of this, it’'s the responsibility of deregulation that falls
solely on their shoulders, and they need to be tagged with this
particular issue.

So now let’ stalk about these refunds themselves. They said that
thefirst refund would be provided in November of 2000, would not
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be applied to existing debts. Well, we know there have been all
kinds of problems with the streamlining of that. In fact, people
aren't getting their money. We' re hearing that in the constituencies.
We know that government private members have had those i ssues.
They’ ve been brought up here in question period. So not exactly a
smooth process. That's what happens when you plan on the run:
problems are encountered. So that’s an issue.

In fact, Mr. Speaker, there are some people who still didn’t get
their cheques. I’ vegot acouple of young peoplein my constituency
who filed their returns prior to November of 2000 and haven't
received thefirst or the second cheque. So someissues still around
that. Perhaps if they don’t come by the end of this month, I'll be
taking it up with the minister’s office to find out what the problems
are, because they should have got them | think by thistime.

Also a timing problem with the way the cheques came, Mr.
Speaker. If they'reto shield average costs on amonthly basis, when
you get two lump sum cheques — and the second one, particularly,
after most of the costs have been incurred — | think there's an issue
with that. Not for, | don’t think, middle-income earners, who have
the flexibility within their budgets to absorb those costs, but
certainly for lower income people. We heard untold kinds of
problems with people having to make serious choices about how
they spent their money and not being able to meet the basic needsin
some cases or having to delay the payment of other billsand having
to pay penalties. So that’saconcern.

We see, | think, in the information we have that the average
residential consumer was entitled to anearly $500 rebatein the past
year to shield them from the impact of higher gasoline and natural
gas prices, but the Alberta energy tax refund proposes to return just
$300 on averagefor Albertataxpayers. That $300 rebate represents

just 61 percent of the money that Albertans are rightfully owed in
2000 because of the impact of higher home-heating fuel costs and
gasoline prices.
5:20

That’s the genera outline of the concerns that we had with this
bill. Wewant to put them on therecord. Having said that, | believe
I'll be supporting this bill, at least in second reading, and we'll see
if we get any negative feedback from taxpayers when we get to
committee. But it seemsto me that while people have reservations,
they’re quite happy to hold their nose and put their hand out for the
chegue, Mr. Speaker.

[Motion carried; Bill 14 read a second time]
THE ACTING SPEAKER: The Deputy Government House L eader.
MR. STEVENS: Yes, Mr. Speaker. Given the good progress that

we' ve made since 4:30, | movethat wecall it 5:30 and that when we
reconvene this evening at 8 o’clock, we do so in Committee of

Supply.

THE ACTING SPEAKER: Does the Assembly agree with the
motion proposed by the hon. Deputy Government House Leader?

HON. MEMBERS: Agreed.
THE ACTING SPEAKER: Opposed? Carried.

[Pursuant to Standing Order 4 the Assembly adjourned at 5:22 p.m.]
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